
Please ask for  Democratic Services: Telephone (01362) 656295
e-mail: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee - CABINET
Date & Time - TUESDAY, 1ST MAY, 2018 AT 9.30 AM

Venue - NORFOLK & DEREHAM ROOMS, THE 
CONFERENCE SUITE, ELIZABETH 
HOUSE, DEREHAM

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee.

The Cabinet

Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen (Vice-Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mrs A M Webb

PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE 
REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE TELEPHONES

Democratic Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Date: Monday 23 April 2018

Public Document Pack





Cabinet
01 May 2018

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 5 - 7
To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 20 March 2018.

2. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.  

3. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

4. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has 
a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

5. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the meeting.

6. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

7. BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING 
ITEM) 
To consider the grants put forward (if any).  

8. ANGLIA REVENUES AND BENEFITS PARTNERSHIP 8 - 13
To note the minutes of the meeting of the Joint Committee held on 27 
March 2018.

9. AIR QUALITY ACTION PLAN 14 - 55
Report of Executive Member for People and Information, Councillor Alison 
Webb.

10. CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 56 - 73
Report of Executive Member for People and Information, Councillor Alison 
Webb.

11. REVISION OF BRECKLAND LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME (LDS) 74 - 85
Report of Executive Member for Growth, Councillor Gordon Bambridge.



Cabinet
01 May 2018

Page(s)
herewith

12. NEXT MEETING 
To note that the date of the next meeting of Cabinet will be held on 12 June 
2018 at 10.00am at Attleborough Town Council, Town Hall, Queens 
Square, Attleborough, Norfolk, NR17 2AF.  
There will be an opportunity for the members of the public to ask questions 
of Cabinet members from 9.30am to 10:00am.

13. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
To consider passing the following resolution:

“That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Act”.

PART B – ITEM FROM WHICH THE PRESS AND THE PUBLIC ARE 
EXCLUDED  

14. ALTERNATIVE PROPOSAL FOR ELECTRICITY POWER SCHEME IN 
SNETTERTON - PROCUREMENT EXEMPTION 

To Follow

Report of Executive Member for Growth and Commercialisation, Councillor 
Adrian Stasiak.

15. SNETTERTON ELECTRICITY POWER UPGRADE PROJECT - PROJECT 
UPDATE AND ACCEPTANCE OF GRANT 

86 - 95

Report of Executive Member for Growth and Commercialisation, Councillor 
Adrian Stasiak.  
(Appendix 1 to follow)

16. PFI LEISURE CONTRACT SUB-CONTRACTOR 96 - 99
Report of Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Strategy, Governance 
and Transformation, Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen.

17. BARNHAM BROOM GOLF & COUNTRY CLUB INVESTMENT ASSET 100 - 111
Report of Executive Member for Growth and Commercialisation, Councillor 
Adrian Stasiak.



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

CABINET

Held on Tuesday, 20 March 2018 at 9.30 am in
Swaffham Town Council, Town Hall, 4 London Street, Swaffham, PE37 7DQ

PRESENT
Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr A.C. Stasiak

Also Present
Mr W.P. Borrett
Mr P. R. W. Darby
Mr T. J. Jermy

Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mr I. Sherwood
Mr P S Wilkinson

In Attendance
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & Governance 

(Monitoring Officer)
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 

Officer)
Mark Stinson - Executive Manager Governance (Deputy 

Monitoring Officer)
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader

Action By

26/18 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 6 February 2018 were confirmed and 
signed by the Chairman. 

27/18 APOLOGIES 

An apology was received from Councillor Webb.

28/18 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

29/18 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

30/18 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Borrett, Darby, Jermy, Matthews, Sherwood and Wilkinson.

Public Document Pack

5

Agenda Item 1



Cabinet
20 March 2018

2

Action By

31/18 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

None.

32/18 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM) 

 (a) Charles Burrell Centre - Large Match Funding Application  

The chief operating officer for the Charles Burrell centre was present at the 
meeting, and provided members with an overview of the project. The 
project is a significant step providing work experience opportunities to those 
that are economically inactive.  

The Executive Member for Finance had the opportunity to visit the Charles 
Burrell centre, and said it was remarkable operation and something that 
was to be supported.  He added that the model should be replicated across 
the market towns.

Options
Option 1 – fully fund the application as set out in the report
Option 2 – part fund the application as set out in the report
Option 3 – Do nothing.

Reasons
The grant application meets the criteria of the scheme.

RESOLVED that the grant award of £20,000 (or 23% of the project costs, 
whichever is the lower amount) to the Charles Burrell Centre for a new 
project called ‘Full Steam Ahead’ to provide work experience opportunities 
for people who are currently economically inactive be approved.

33/18 INVESTMENT IN AFFORDABLE HOUSING 

The Executive Member for Growth presented the report which proposed that 
an investment approach be explored to increase the provision of interim 
accommodation for homeless households.

The Executive Member for Place asked if the process followed an holistic 
approach to establish why an individual had been made homeless and asked 
if this was being considered in a cohesive way.  It was confirmed that the new 
legislation did ensure that Local Authorities approached homelessness 
holistically.

Options
1) Do nothing – under this option the authority will not seek to pursue an 

investment approach for this funding.  This approach would mean that 
the authority would not be in a position to capitalise on any 
opportunities to improve housing provision for those experiencing 
homelessness within the district.

2) Proceed as per the report recommendations (recommended option) – 
under this option, an investment approach will be explored which 
focuses upon utilising available funding to increase the provision of 
interim accommodation for homeless households within the district.

6



Cabinet
20 March 2018

3

Action By

Reasons
To enable exploration of an investment approach which focuses upon utilising 
available funding to increase the provision of interim accommodation for 
homeless households within the district.

RESOLVED that the proposed broad investment approach for available funds 
for affordable housing, as set out within the report, be approved.

34/18 PFI BENCHMARKING EXERCISE 

The Deputy Leader explained that the Breckland PFI for leisure services was 
currently in its 10th year of full operation.  A new unitary charge would take 
effect in year 12, and the report requested delegated authority to the 
Executive Director for Strategy and Governance, in consultation with the 
Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Place, to progress with the 
benchmarking exercise.

Options
Option 1 – to grant the necessary delegations;

Option 2 – Not to grant some or all of the necessary delegations – failure to 
grant the delegations will likely result in a delay to the process which could 
prejudice the Council’s position.

Reasons
To allow the council to meet its contractual obligations described in Schedule 
18 part 1 ‘Benchmarking Procedure’ of the Project Agreement.

RESOLVED to delegate authority to the Executive Director for Strategy & 
Governance in consultation with the Deputy Leader and Executive Member 
for Strategy Governance and Transformation and the Portfolio Holder for 
Place to progress the Benchmarking Exercise and in particular to take the 
actions listed in the report.

35/18 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting on 1 May 2018 in the Norfolk Room, 
Elizabeth House, Dereham, were noted.

36/18 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

37/18 RIVERSIDE, THETFORD - COMMERCIAL LETTINGS 

RESOLVED that Option 1 be approved.

The meeting closed at 10.40 am

CHAIRMAN

7



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL
FOREST HEATH DISTRICT COUNCIL

EAST CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL
ST EDMUNDSBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

FENLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
WAVENEY DISTRICT COUNCIL

SUFFOLK COASTAL DISTRICT COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

ANGLIA REVENUES AND BENEFITS PARTNERSHIP JOINT COMMITTEE

Held on Tuesday, 27 March 2018 at 10.00 am in the
Level 5 Meeting Room, Breckland House, St Nicholas Street, Thetford  IP24 1BT

PRESENT
Mr R. Kerry (Chairman)
Mr B. Provan (Vice-Chairman)
Mr D Ambrose Smith
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr S. Edwards
Mrs A. Hay
Mr I. Houlder

In Attendance
Brendan Arnold - Chief Finance Officer and Corporate 

Director (Fenland)
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 

Officer) (BDC)
Paul Corney - Head of ARP
Jill Korwin - Director (Forest Heath & St Edmundsbury)
Adrian Mills - Strategic Manager (Benefits) ARP
Stuart Philpot - Strategic Manager (Support Services) ARP
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer
Simon Taylor - Finance Manager (Compliance) and Deputy 

S151 Officer (Suffolk Coastal)
Ian Smith - Principal Accountant (East Cambs)

Action By
1/18 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 5 December 2017 were agreed as a 
correct record.

2/18 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Apologies for absence were received from Homira Javadi, Christine Marshall 
and Emma Grima.

The following Officers were in attendance as their substitutes: Simon Taylor, 
Alison Chubbock and Ian Smith.

3/18 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

None.

4/18 DECLARATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None.

8

Agenda Item 8



Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint Committee
27 March 2018

2

Action By
5/18 ANGLIA REVENUES PARTNERSHIP PERFORMANCE (STANDING ITEM) 

(AGENDA ITEM 5) 

 (a) Highlight report and Balanced scorecard  

The Head of ARP presented the report.

Benefits Performance

Housing Benefits performance was close to meet the year-end targets; 
however, this was not the case for all the Councils.  Four of the Councils as 
shown on the balance scorecard, the target for processing of Council Tax 
support cases was not likely to be met and it was expected that the final 
year end figure for these Councils would be 9 days against a target of 8 
days. Members were reassured; however, that going into 2018/19 
appropriate measures had been put in place in relation to resources, for the 
peak periods, and should therefore level the performance.

Fraud & Compliance Performance

Targets were being achieved.  During the year the Team had identified 
several dwellings and businesses either not registered not having had an 
undeclared change in use that had led to increased charges - in some 
cases significant higher retrospective charges.  Finding cases that should 
be registered would be ongoing but in time it would reduce.

Revenues

Performance targets continued to be met in all areas with the exception of 
Non-Domestic Rates collection for Fenland, Waveney, Forest Heath and St 
Edmundsbury Councils due to the significant amount of refunds as a result 
of successful appeals by ratepayers against their rateable values.  The 
Finance Teams were aware.

Support Services

This year’s annual billing had gone very well and had been the smoothest 
year thus far.  All bills had been sent out on time and no issues had been 
raised.

Digital Transformation and Self-Service

The 2018 Annual Billing included in excess of 10,000 Council Tax payers 
and Housing Benefit recipients opting entirely to receive their bills and 
notifications electronically thus saving postage and all could access copy of 
their bills etc on-line.  The new on-line forms being designed was going well 
but there had been issues with provider.  The Team continued to work with 
the provider to hopefully resolve these issues.  
 
Councillor Hay asked a question in relation to benefits processing and 
wanted to know how this could improve.  Members were informed that this 
had been due to staff shortages but this was no longer the case and 
therefore should now improve.

In response to a further question in relation to Council Tax correspondence 
and the reason why the trend had reversed in December, Members were 

9



Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint Committee
27 March 2018

3

Action By
informed that work was ongoing with the Operational Improvement Board to 
review the staff resource in the Council Tax section.  There had been a 
similar trend in Housing Benefit with high volumes of correspondence and 
telephone calls in the first couple of months and the OIB was looking at 
better ways to manage this busy time period.

Councillor Claussen wanted to know how ARP’s targets compared 
nationally.  In response, Members were informed that at this point in time, 
new claims took approximately 18-20 days and a change in circumstances 
around 5 days.  This compared to the national average of 22 days and 9 
days.  The OIB was going to re-visit some of these performance targets.
 
Councillor Edwards asked for the full years out-turn performance 
information to be sent to Members when available.

ACTION: Circulate year end performance information to all ARP JC 
Members.

 (b) Finance report  

The Chief Accountant for Breckland Council presented the report.

It was explained that as of 31 January 2018 the committed Transformation 
Funding stood at £180,529 and if all the identified expenditure went through 
as planned by the end of 2018/19 there would be £47,928 remaining for 
future projects.

ACTION – move the £47k to future years.

6/18 WELFARE REFORM UPDATE (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

The ARP Strategic Manager (Benefits) presented the report.

Universal Credit (UC)

Further Government Budget announcements included the following 
improvements:

 Live Service closure 1st January 2018
 Removal of seven waiting days prior to claim start date from 14th 

February 2018
 Claims from 14th February 2018 would now usually be paid in one 

month and seven days rather than one month and 14 days
 Claimants could request a 100% advance payment, increased from 

50% from the 14th February 2018
 Temporary accommodation cases to be assessed in Housing |benefit 

from April 2018.  Whilst this applied to new claims, existing cases 
would only migrate to Housing Benefit following specified change of 
events

 An extra two weeks Housing Benefit to be automatically awarded from 
April 2018 when Universal Credit was claimed

 Improvements to process for private landlords to request an 
alternative payment arrangement (direct payment to the landlord).

Many of the aforementioned improvements/enhancements would come into 
force very soon and there still remained a number of issues in relation to how 

10



Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint Committee
27 March 2018

4

Action By
these would be administered.

The programme to migrate existing Housing Benefit customers had been 
delayed by 12 months and would now commence in July 2019 with a 
corresponding delayed completion date of March 2022.  Conversations were 
on-going with Local Housing Authorities and DWP in relation to this schedule.

Councillor Houlder referred to the alternative payment arrangement for 
private landlords and asked if this was going to be a major issue.  It was 
noted that DWP did not release this date and ARP did not have access to it.  
However, with the budget announcements in December 2017, it was much 
easier for landlords to request a direct payment than it was before.  Landlords 
could apply for direct payment of the housing element of Universal Credit to 
themselves.  These improvements would ultimately have a positive effect on 
arrears and homelessness.

Social Rented Sector Rent Restrictions

Government had responded to consultation on funding for supported housing 
in which it had indicated it would not implement Local Housing Allowance 
(LHA) rates in social housing; further proposals included: 

 Short-term supported accommodation to be funded via grant to 
Upper Tier Councils - no longer funded through Housing Benefit. 
Concerns remain as to how this would operate in practice.

 Long-term supported accommodation would be funded as it was 
now - via the welfare system.

 A new ‘Sheltered rent’ would be introduced – for which gross 
eligible rent (inclusive of service charges) would be regulated by 
the social housing regulator. Assistance in this type of 
accommodation would continue to be paid via the welfare system. 
‘Sheltered rent’ would be subject to a cap, the calculation of which 
maintained a link to formula rent. 

 A local strategic plan would be required by Upper Tier Councils, 
setting out how funding would be used to meet identified local 
need. 

 A National Statement of Expectation for supported housing 
funding would be introduced.

 April 2020 had been indicated as the implementation date.

Referring to the government’s approach to supported accommodation (i.e. 
hostels) ARP was waiting to see how this looked and there could be grants 
available to upper tier councils.  DWP needed to ensure that it was capturing 
the correct data.
 
The Chairman was pleased to announce that Adrian Mills, the ARP Strategic 
Manager (Benefits) had been the recipient of a silver award in the iESE 
Public Sector Transformation Awards in the Reinventing Local Services 
Category.  In this particular category there had been 39 entries with just 3 
entries shortlisted. 

The report was otherwise noted.

7/18 ANGLIA REVENUES PARTNERSHIP RISK REGISTER (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

The Head of ARP presented the report.

11



Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint Committee
27 March 2018

5

Action By

At the Joint Committee in June 2014 it had been agreed that Members would 
be updated every six months on the risk assurance so that the greatest risks 
to the organisation could be highlighted.

A number of high risks remained since the last report but a process of 
mitigation and monitoring was in place to eliminate some of these risks.

The risk surrounding income from business rates had reduced but still 
remained in relation to subsequent appeals that could be submitted.  The 
Finance Team had made provision for this.

In respect of Universal Credit, there was a danger that this would reduce over 
the coming years but until further information from the Government was 
received this would remain as a risk on the Risk Register.

The risk in relation to business continuity had risen due to the recent cyber-
attacks.   West Suffolk IT had already updated all software but this was a 
matter that had to be monitored continually.

RESOLVED that the report be noted and the Risk Assurance Register be 
agreed.

8/18 FORTHCOMING ISSUES (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

None.

9/18 NEXT MEETING (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Tuesday, 26 June 2018 at 
10.00am, Level 5, Thetford were noted.

10/18 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the press and the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items 
of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraphs 3 & 4 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

11/18 RISK BASED VERIFICATION (AGENDA ITEM 11) 

The Strategic Manager (Benefits) ARP presented the report.

The Department of Work & Pensions (DWP) requires Councils to review their 
Risk Based Verification Policies annually and requires Members to approve 
the continuance or revision of their Policy.

In March 2017, the Joint Committee approved expanding the Risk Based 
Verification Policy to include changes of circumstances as well as new 
claims; however, due to the change in the forms and the continuous work with 
the provider (mentioned earlier in the meeting) it was anticipated that this 
functionality would be introduced in the Spring 2018.

RESOLVED that:

 to note that the Policy remains unchanged in 2017/18

12



Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint Committee
27 March 2018

6

Action By
 the Housing Benefit Risk Based Verification Policy for 2018/19 for 

Breckland Council, East Cambridgeshire District Council, Fenland 
District Council, Forest Heath District Council, St Edmundsbury 
Borough Council, Suffolk Coastal District Council and Waveney 
District Council be approved.

12/18 ARP BRIEFING NOTE (AGENDA ITEM 12) 

Jill Korwin, Director of Forest Heath & St Edmundsbury District Councils 
presented the report that proposed to create two new district-level councils for 
West Suffolk and East Suffolk.  Members were provided with a detailed 
overview of the proposals and the processes being put in place in relation to 
the procurement of an additional resource.

A more detailed report would be discussed at the Operational Improvement 
Board (OIB) meeting in April and a further report would be provided at the 
next Joint Committee meeting in June 2018.

Councillor Claussen raised concern about possible IT risks.  Members were 
assured that this was the reason for the additional resource.

The report was otherwise noted.

Action – further update to be brought to the next JC meeting in June.

13/18 FUTURE OF ARP TRADING LIMITED (AGENDA ITEM 13) 

The Chief Finance Officer & Corporate Director for Fenland District Council 
presented the report.

The options available to Members were explained and the recommendation 
was highlighted.

Councillor Ambrose-Smith felt that the governance should be addressed prior 
to the revival of the Company.  Members were informed that legal advice was 
awaited in terms of process.  

It was agreed that a Shareholders Advisory Group meeting would be 
convened immediately following the ARPJC meeting.

RESOLVED that Option B of the report be adopted.
 

14/18 ARP TRADING LTD, FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 14) 

The Chief Accountant presented the report.

The report highlighted that there would be a small financial impact to each of 
the Partner Authorities now that the recommendation at agenda item 13 had 
been adopted; however, this was more than offset by the saving for each 
partner from the ARP Partnership budget.

RESOLVED that the report be noted.

The meeting closed at 10.50 am 
CHAIRMAN

13



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Member People and Information, Alison Webb and Executive 
People & Public Protection Manager Phil Adams

To: Cabinet 1 May 2018
Overview and Scrutiny Commission 19 April2018

Author: Andrew Grimley, Team Leader Environmental Protection

Subject: Air Quality Action Plan

Purpose: To present to members details of a proposed Air Quality Action Plan to 
address elevated air pollution levels within the town of Swaffham

Recommendation(s): 

1) That members approve the draft Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) for Swaffham and 
authorise delegated powers for the Executive Member People and Information to 
sign off the plan once it has been finalised 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Members’ attention is drawn to the Swaffham Air Quality report taken to the 21st March 
2017 Cabinet meeting which reported issues with poor air quality in Swaffham and the 
need to declare an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) in the centre of Swaffham. See 
Appendix 1.

1.2   Cabinet accepted the need to declare an AQMA and that there was a subsequent need to 
develop, in consultation with Overview and Scrutiny Commission, the local community and 
other interested bodies, an air quality plan to address the issues raised by the AQMA. See 
Appendix 2 for AQMA order, which came into force from 1 May 2017 and plan.

 
1.3 Overview and Scrutiny Commission were involved in establishing the Steering group 

required to oversee the development of an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) to address the 
air quality issues. The Steering Group is composed of representatives from Overview & 
Scrutiny Commission (Councillor Wilkinson), the Public Protection team (Environmental 
Protection), Planning (Capita),Norfolk County Council (NCC Transport Planning and 
Public Health), Councillor Paul Darby Swaffham District Councillor and Swaffham Town 
Council. The Steering group met to discuss the requirements of the action plan and 
identified a number of potential actions to be included within it. 

1.4 It should be stressed that the Action plan only sets out measures aimed at improving air 
quality in a section of the town centre (centring on the junction of Station Street, Mangate 
Street, the A1065 Market Place and Lynn Street) for the Council and its partner 
organisations to investigate in terms of their feasibility on both a practical and financial 
basis. It should be stressed that the action plan is not a list of actions which will be 
implemented:

1.4.1 The suggested action plan measures were put out for consultation from 12 January for a 
period of 6 weeks focussing on obtaining the views of as many interested parties as 
possible including local residents, members of the public visiting the town, Swaffham 

14

Agenda Item 9



Town Council, District and County Council members, local schools, business and 
organisations. Static displays with leaflets, flyers and questionnaires were placed in 
central locations accessible to local people and organisations including the library, town 
council offices and the Green Britain centre.

1.4.2
We had 194 responses to the consultation. The respondents were principally residents 
(84%) and visitors to town centre (29.6%); with 5 responses each from businesses and 
schoolchildren. 
Measures: All of the measures put forward for investigation in the draft AQAP (Section 5 
Appendix 3) were supported by the majority of respondents. 
The ones with less support were ‘

 Educate drivers to adopt more eco-friendly driving styles’ (76% support), 
 Introduce air quality as a topic in schools’ (82% support) 
 and ‘investigate car parking arrangements’ (79% support).

Comments: We had 159 comments with broad support for investigations into
 Reducing the amount of HGV / agricultural traffic through the town centre (25%),
 Limiting future development until traffic issues have been resolved (5%)
 Investigation of providing a by-pass (22%),
 Looking at traffic enforcement measures to reduce speed / car parking issues (4%)
 Increase traffic flows (1%),
 Introducing more greenery (2%),
 Improving signage (2%),
 Providing more cycle lanes and safe walk ways (8%),
 Improving public transport (4%) 
 Investigating road and car parking within the town (11%)

1.4.3 The results of the consultation were reported back to the Steering Group on 9 March 2018 
where the results and potential future work was discussed. The group did not raise any 
significant items for change or amendment in the plan. The NCC Transport Planning 
officer advised that a number of the transport related action points had been incorporated 
into the draft Norfolk County Council Network Improvement Strategy which will look to 
investigate traffic issues in and around the town including reviews of the one way system, 
car parks, signage and road junction improvements;

1.4.4 The Steering Group have examined the results of the public consultation and have refined 
the action points within the plan which is attached in Appendix 3

1.4.5 Discussion of issues

1.4.6 Based on the above consultation and consideration by the Steering Group it is 
recommended that the plan action points are adopted within the measures to be 
investigated as part of the Air Quality Action Plan aimed at addressing air quality issues in 
Swaffham Air Quality Management Area.

1.4.7 The action plan is in draft and there are a number of technical steps required within the 
plan to be worked upon before submission to Department of the Environment Food and 
Regional Affairs (Defra). The council also needs to put the plan out to a number of 
statutory consultees including the Environment Agency, neighbouring authorities, other 
interested parties and Defra before the final plan is submitted to Defra. The technical parts 
of the plan and wider consultation will take place during the spring / summer of 2018. It is 
stressed however, that the main issues, which relate to the action points already 
consulted upon and agreed through the consultation in early 2018 and as agreed and 
discussed at the steering Group, are unlikely to change. In this respect it is recommended 

15



that as the final plan is developed the finer / specific details are discussed / approved with 
the Executive Member People and Information under her delegated powers, in 
conjunction with advice from the Steering Group before the final plan is submitted in the 
autumn.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Approve the adoption and inclusion of the plan action points for further investigation in the 
draft Air Quality Action Plan. Delegate authority to the Executive Member People and 
Information to approve the final plan as it is developed and consulted in terms of the finer / 
specific details before its submission and approval by the Department of Environment, 
Fisheries and Rural Affairs 

 

2.2 Do nothing

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To meet the duty imposed on the Council by Section 83 of the Environment Act 1995 to 
manage air quality and ensure that air quality objectives are met, through the declared 
AQMA and the production of an action plan.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Improvement in air quality through the delivery of an action plan which has been fully 
consulted upon to gain the views of members, local community and other interested 
parties / organisations to obtain a reduction on the possible impact on human health / 
meeting the legal duty under section 83(1) of the Environment Act 1995.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues 
These issues are covered in the body of the report and appendices.

5.2 Constitution & Legal
These matters are an executive function delegated to Cabinet.  The advice from the 
Executive Manager for Governance is “The Local Authorities (Functions and 
Responsibilities) Regulations 2000 (as amended) makes it clear that Councils have a 
choice as to whether air pollution is a Council or Cabinet decision. If you then look at the 
terms of reference in our constitution, this is a function allocated to Cabinet”.

5.3 Corporate Priorities
Improving air quality links to the corporate priorities:--
Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive: Work together with partners and local 
communities to make public spaces cleaner, greener and safe; Work with our partners to 

16



reduce and prevent crime and anti-social behaviour and protect the community and 
environment.

Enabling stronger, more independent communities: Lead and support the Breckland 
Health and Wellbeing Partnership to address key local health care and wellbeing issues; 
Work with current and new partners to deliver council services which improve the 
opportunities for vulnerable residents and families with complex needs.

NB: ‘vulnerable residents’ in this context would include children, the elderly and those with 
chronic respiratory and circulatory disorders

5.4 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
It is in the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications except as described 
above where more vulnerable residents may be more susceptible to poor air quality 
issues.

5.5 Financial
Associated costs will depend to a great extent on the action plan content itself and it’s not 
possible to be clear on this content at this stage. This will be presented to members once 
all options have been assessed and costed.

5.8 Health & Wellbeing
There are proven links between air quality, especially NO2 and particulates. NO2 and 
particulates are directly linked to road traffic and correlates to levels of NO2 so and 
reduction here will also positively impact on levels of particulates.  Improved air quality will 
therefore have a positive impact human health in this area.

5.9 Risk Management 
A risk register will be incorporated into the plan and measures will be used to mitigate 
those risks where possible.

5.10 Staffing
Development and delivery of the action plan is a priority for the Public Protection Team 
and will become the focus of the existing Environmental Protection Officer responsible for 
air quality.  This will result in a reallocation of some work and / or a refocus of other 
priorities.  It should be noted though that other tasks normally carried out by this officer 
(air quality monitoring in the affected area, annual reporting to Defra, etc.) will become 
part of this focused project. Extra resourcing was made available by Cabinet in terms of 
the report submitted in March 2017 to ensure effective service is maintained.

5.11 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales 
Engagement with Elected Members, the Town Councils and wider stakeholders such as 
residents groups and Norfolk County Council will be required during the development of 
the action plan.  As previously explained in the cabinet report, some work has already 
been undertaken by Norfolk County Council to scope potential road schemes, but further 
consultation will be required.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 Swaffham

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 Defra - Department of the Environment Food and Regional Affairs
AQMA – Air Quality Management Area

17



AQAP – Air Quality Action Plan
NO2 – Nitrogen Dioxide

Background papers: -
Appendix 1 Swaffham Air Quality Report 2017
Appendix 2 Air Quality Management Area Order
Appendix 3 Draft Air Quality Action Plan

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Andrew Grimley
Telephone Number: 01362 656241
Email: andrew.grimley@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 
Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix 1 Swaffham Air Quality Report 2017
Appendix 2 Air Quality Management Area Order
Appendix 3 Draft Air Quality Action Plan

18



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Member People & Information, Alison Webb

To: Cabinet – 21 March 2017

Author: Richard Boole, Environmental Protection Manager

Subject: Air Quality Management Area, Station Street, Swaffham

Purpose: To declare an Air Quality Management Area in Swaffham

Recommendation(s): 

1) That option 1 below be approved and that an Air Quality Management Area be declared for 
the geographical area described in detail in the draft order appended to this report. 

1 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Environment Act 2005 places a duty on local authorities to review and assess air 
quality in their district, against national air quality objectives laid down in the Air Quality 
(England) Regulations 2000.  This process is referred to as Local Air Quality Management 
(LAQM).  The review and assessment process requires an Annual Status Report (ASR).  Air 
quality objectives exist for particulates greater than 10 microns (PM10) and Nitrogen 
Dioxide (NO2).  The objective for NO2 is 200ug/m3 as a 1-hour mean (not to be exceeded 
more than 18 times per year) and 40ug/m3 as an annual mean.  Whilst NO2 is a product of 
combustion, at a local level, NO2 levels are primarily due to road traffic sources and the duty 
extends to locations a) which are situated outside buildings or other natural or man-made 
structures above-ground; and b) where members of the public are regularly present.  

1.2 NO2 is measured using a network of diffusion tubes and fixed air quality monitoring units.  
Tubes are fixed to sensitive receptor buildings and street furniture, are changed on a 
monthly basis and the results calibrated against nationally approved correction factors.  The 
tubes are analysed the results calculated by an independent consultant.  

2 ISSUES

2.1      A specific issue with NO2 levels has been evident in Swaffham, with a tube (S.8) located at 
the town-end of Station Street, just north of the junction with Mangate Street / Lynn Street 
(location map at Figure 1 below).

23

Agenda Item 10

19



 Figure 1 – Area map showing location of tube S8 

 

2.2      The trend at this location has been for annual mean levels at or above the air quality 
objective for the last 5 years, 2010-2015 inclusive, with the exception of 2012 and 2015 
which were just under. The advice from our consultant is that any figure above 36.5ug/m3 is 
a matter for concern.  Figures for the last 6 years are at table 1. Below.  Whilst on the face 
of it these might seem like a marginal exceedance, DEFRA have advised that it is a clear 
exceedance in the context of the objective.

Table 1.  Figures for the last 5 years at tube location S8:
Year NO2 Annual Mean Figure (Bias 

Adjusted) (ug/m3)
2010 40.03
2011 40.41
2012 38.75
2013 41.63
2014 40.36
2015 37.7
2016 41.9 (provisional*).

*NB: We’re currently awaiting the release of the national bias adjustment figure before this can be 
confirmed as final.  The bias figure for the previous year has been applied and from experience the 
figure is unlikely to change by more than +/- 0.5 when finalised. 

2.3     Where an objective hasn’t been met, local authorities are under a duty to proceed to 
‘detailed assessment’, which as the name suggests is a detailed assessment of the air 
quality in the area of the exceedance of the objective, modelled to determine the extent of 
the exceedance beyond the monitoring point itself. If however the assessment concludes that 
the exceedance of the objective is unlikely to resolve itself without intervention, then the 
recommendation is likely to be that the Council moves to declare an Air Quality Management 
Area (AQMA).  A previous detailed assessment was undertaken and submitted in 2013, 
recommending that the Council maintain a watching brief on air quality at this location, with a 
view to proceeding to an AQMA if needs be in the future.  DEFRA advised that a further 
detailed assessment was necessary and this was finalised in October 2016. Please note that 
the detailed assessment has to be submitted to Defra. 

2420



2.4     A copy of the latest detailed assessment is attached at Appendix A.

The recommendations of this detailed assessment are:-

 That an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) be declared in the assessment area, the 
extent of which is proposed in Figure 3.

 Continuation of diffusion tube monitoring in the area of the proposed AQMA, particularly at 
sites S1, S7, S8, S11 and S12 to confirm existing concentrations in the modelled 
exceedance area, and to continue diffusion tube monitoring further south down on London 
Street to assess concentrations south of the recommended AQMA boundary.

 An Air Quality Action Plan is drawn up to determine the best policies and intervention 
measures to put in place in order to reduce local NO2 concentrations.

 Additional traffic surveys are undertaken in the vicinity of the proposed AQMAs. This will 
minimise the manipulation of traffic data inputs required for future dispersion modelling 
studies, thereby reducing the associated uncertainties of model outputs.

 Further assessment of the changes to the road network proposed in the Option 1 scenario 
(specified within Appendix A) in respect to potential queuing traffic. 

NB: this scenario was put forwards by Norfolk County Council (NCC) Highways as the 
‘preferred option’ in a piece of work undertaken in 2015, based on their modelling of air 
quality with different traffic flow scenario’s.  Please note that this option was only developed 
as an engineering study and still requires further work and consultation before it can be 
finalised by NCC.

2.5     A map view showing the location of the tube S8 is provided at Figure 1 above and an extract 
from the most recent detailed assessment showing the modelled exceedance area is 
provided at Figure 2 below.  

Figure 2 – Modelled exceedance area for NO2 against the air quality objective.

2.6    Since 2012 a number of meetings have taken place between representatives of the 
Environmental Protection Team and Norfolk County Council Highways, to look for ways to 
improve air quality in Swaffham.  This resulted in discussions for options for traffic flow 
improvements, including changes to traffic light phasing and junction improvements.  Whilst 
the response from NCC was generally positive, they made it clear that they have to prioritise 
road schemes due to financial constraints and that with other Councils having declared 
AQMA’s, the priority for funding was in those areas.  Additionally they also wanted to wait on 
the opening of the A11 dual carriageway extension and associated signage improvements, to 

Key

36ug/m3

  40ug/m3

Modelled 
Road

2521



assess any impact or improvement arising from that scheme, before investigating issues in 
Swaffham further.  Whilst that scheme doesn’t appear to have created any new problems for 
Swaffham, it hasn’t resulted in any noticeable reduction in through traffic heading to north 
Norfolk.

2.7     These discussions, as well as discussions with Planners around conditioning of new 
applications and potential funding opportunities, had been aimed at looking for solutions thus 
avoiding the need to proceed to an AQMA.  Additionally, EMT have previously approved 
funding to enable the Environmental Protection Team to commission Norfolk County Council 
Highways Dept. to undertake a study into traffic management at the junction between Station 
Street and Mangate Street / Lynn Street and advise on schemes to reduce standing traffic / 
improve traffic flow on Station Street.  This work was undertaken in early 2015 and a report 
was submitted to us recommending a preferred scheme to replace the current traffic lights 
with two mini-roundabouts.  The estimated cost of this scheme was £250k plus the cost of 
moving any utility services.  This is the ‘Option 1’ scheme referred to by the consultant in the 
most recent detailed assessment recommendations.

2.8     Local Authorities have a duty under S.83(1) of the Environment Act 1995 to designate those 
areas where the air quality objectives are unlikely to be, or are not being, met as AQMA’s.  
These areas have to be designated officially by means of an order.  At a minimum, the 
AQMA must cover the area where the exceedance exists, where there are relevant 
receptors, but also must take into account the nature and location of relevant sources of 
pollution and other relevant local factors.  In this case, whilst the actual area of the 
exceedance is relatively small, the road network feeding into this junction would need to be 
taken into account.

2.9     The extent of the AQMA proposed in the latest detailed assessment is provided at Figure 3 
below:-

Figure 3 – Proposed AQMA boundary

2.10    Local authority actions may, of necessity, involve planning considerations, both in terms of 
land-use and measures that may be asked of developers to contribute to meeting the air 
quality objectives.

2.11    The Environmental Protection Manager discussed air quality and the need to meet the 
objectives with Ian Withington, Planning Policy Team Leader, in the context of including a 
policy within the revised Local Plan, to ensure that air quality objectives can be considered 
in the future as a material planning consideration.  It is stressed that this isn’t with the 
intention of restricting growth within the district, however as there is a legal duty to manage 

2622



air quality there needs to be a recognition of this in the context of land use planning and the 
response to individual planning consultations where this is appropriate, e.g. large scale 
housing developments with the potential to impact adversely on air quality objectives in a 
specific geographical area through additional traffic.

2.12  In terms of planning impacts, an AQMA doesn’t automatically mean restrictions on 
development.  It would however be necessary to require developers for applications in, or 
impacting upon, an AQMA to undertake and submit a more detailed study of the potential 
impact of the development on the AQMA and of mitigation that could be offered to reduce 
this impact.  It would only be in extreme cases, where a proposed development is 
incompatible with the need to meet the air quality objective, that mitigating restrictions might 
need to come into play.  Consultation will take place with relevant planning officers as part 
of the process to develop an action plan, to ensure that any potential impact if any, upon 
the Local Plan, is taken into account.

2.13   It should also be noted that air quality is referred to in a number of paragraphs within the 
National Planning Policy Framework and these have been included in the initial draft of the 
local plan.

3 ACTIONS

3.1     To meet the duty to declare an AQMA, the Council needs to designate the relevant area by 
Order of the Council.  Whilst there’s no set form for an Order, the DEFRA Local Air Quality 
Management Policy Guidance recommends that the following information be included as a 
minimum:

-The date on which the order came (or comes) into force;
- The list of pollutants to which it relates and the relevant objective exceedance;
- Map showing the area to be designated; and
- A description of the area e.g. does it contain certain roads, any physical features such 
as street canyons or particular features of the traffic.

3.2     As a consequence of declaring an AQMA, an air quality action plan must be produced to 
include the following:-

- Quantification of the source contributions to the predicted exceedances of the 
relevant objectives;

- Evidence that all available options have been considered;
- How the authority will use its powers and also work in conjunction with other 

organisations in pursuit of the air quality objectives;
- Clear timescales in which the authority and other organisations / agencies propose 

to implement the measures within the plan;
- Where possible, quantification of the expected impacts of the proposed measures 

and an indication as to whether the measures are likely to result in the air quality 
objective being met; and

- How the authority intend to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of the plan.
The plan must also be published.

An example of an air quality action plan is included at Appendix B.  This example also 
relates to NO2 from road traffic, but in Kings Lynn.  

2723



4.0        OPTIONS

1. Declare an AQMA as recommended by Bureau Veritas in the most recent detailed 
assessment and subsequently develop and submit, in consultation, an air quality action 
plan for the AQMA area.  Where a District Council is preparing an action plan, the County 
Council must submit its proposals, together with a statement outlining the timescale, for 
meeting air quality standards and objectives within the designated area.  A further 
assessment will be required 12 months after declaration and the action plan should be 
developed within 12-18 months.  

2. Do nothing.  The Government may use the discretionary power in Part 2 of the Localism 
Act under which the Government could require responsible authorities to pay all or part of 
an infraction fine.  Additionally, levels of Nitrogen Dioxide above the national air quality 
objective will be allowed to exist unchecked, exposing residents to potential risks from such 
exposure.

5.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

5.1      To meet the duty imposed on the Council by S.83 Environment Act to manage air quality 
and ensure that air quality objectives are met, through the declaration of an AQMA, 
development of an action plan and subsequent further assessment; and avoid possible 
action against the authority.

6.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

6.1      Improvement in air quality through delivery of the action plan and consequent reduction on 
the possible impact on human health.  Meeting the legal duty under S.83(1) of the 
Environment Act 2005.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS

7.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

7.1.1   These issues are covered in the body of the report and appendices.

7.2 Constitution & Legal

7.2.1    These matters are an executive function delegated to Cabinet.  The advice from the 
Executive Manager for Governance is “The Local Authorities (Functions and 
Responsibilities) Regulations 2000 (as amended) makes it clear that Councils have a 
choice as to whether air pollution is a Council or Cabinet decision. If you then look at the 
terms of reference in our constitution, this is a function allocated to Cabinet”.

  Additional matters are covered in the body of the report and appendices.  

7.3   Contracts

7.3.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

7.4     Corporate Priorities

7.4.1   Improving air quality links to the corporate priorities:--
- Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive: Work together with partners and local 
communities to make public spaces cleaner, greener and safe; Work with our partners to 
reduce and prevent crime and anti-social behaviour and protect the community and 
environment.

2824



- Enabling stronger, more independent communities: Lead and support the Breckland 
Health and Wellbeing Partnership to address key local health, care and wellbeing issues; 
Work with current and new partners to deliver council services which improve the 
opportunities for vulnerable residents and families with complex needs.

NB: ‘vulnerable residents’ in this context would include children, the elderly and those with 
chronic respiratory and circulatory disorders

7.5    Crime and Disorder 

7.5.1   It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

7.6    Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

7.6.1   It is in the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

7.7 Financial 

7.7.1   A provisional costs estimate relating to a revised junction layout is included in the body of the report.  
It is being recommended that members approve additional staffing resources in the form of a 0.5FTE 
post for a 12 month period, at Environmental Protection Officer level (Grade 8), to ensure that 
sufficient resources exist to undertake the development of the action plan.  The alignment of 
resources after this period and therefore any associated costs will depend to a great extent on the 
action plan content itself and it’s not possible to be clear on this content at this stage.

Not declaring an AQMA may put the Council at risk of an unspecified fine being passed down under 
the Localism Act 2011 to local authorities with air quality objective breaches, should the UK 
Government be fined under infraction proceedings.

7.7 Health & Wellbeing

7.8.1    There are proven links between air quality, especially NO2 and particulates less than 2.5 
microns in size (PM2.5), especially for the young, the old and those with chronic respiratory 
and circulatory disorders. PM2.5 is directly linked to road traffic and directly correlates to 
levels of NO2 so and reduction here will also positively impact on levels of PM2.5.  
Improved air quality will therefore have a positive impact human health in this area.

7.8 Risk Management 

7.9.1   - Communications / Media – risk of negative publicity / public perception – Communications 
Plan.

- Buy-in by stakeholders – whilst stakeholders can’t be forced to engage with the process, 
other than the transport authority (Norfolk County Council) which has a duty to engage 
once an AQMA is declared, best efforts will be made to engage as widely as possible with 
stakeholders using a range of approaches.

- Funding for schemes – The action plan will include a range of objectives, many of which 
are purely about education and awareness raising, however some will carry a cost, most 
notably any road layout changes.  Norfolk County Council will be primarily responsible for 
identifying and funding any such work under a declared AQMA and will have a duty to 
report to Defra regarding their proposals.  

- Staffing – Additional staff resources are required as detailed in 7.7.1 above and Proforma 
B (appendix E), with resourcing being reassessed thereafter.  Loss of key staff is a risk, 
however a range of expertise exists within the team to cover any loss in the short term.

- Legal – Declaration of an AQMA removes risks of judicial review and reduces the risk of 
the passing on of UK fines resulting from infraction proceedings where best efforts are 

2925



being made to resolve any air quality objective exceedances.

7.9 Safeguarding

7.10.1  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

7.11   Staffing 

7.11.1 Development and delivery of the action plan will become a priority for the EP Team and will 
become the focus of the existing Environmental Protection Officer responsible for air 
quality.  Whilst it’s not proposed to increase staffing, this might result in a reallocation of 
some work and / or a refocus of other priorities.  It should be noted though that other tasks 
normally carried out by this officer (air quality monitoring in the affected area, annual 
reporting to Defra, etc) will become part of this focused project.

7.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

7.12.1 Engagement with Elected Members the Town Councils and wider stakeholders such as 
residents groups and Norfolk County Council, will be required during the development of 
the action plan.  Some work has already been undertaken by Norfolk County Council to 
scope potential road schemes, but further consultation will be required.

8.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

8.1 Swaffham 

9.0 APPENDICES
Appendix A – Detailed Assessment 2016
Appendix B – Example Air Quality Action Plan (Kings Lynn)
Appendix C – Draft Order for declaration of the AQMA
Appendix D – Communications Plan.
Appendix E – Proforma B

Background papers:-

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Richard Boole, Environmental Protection Managerager
Telephone Number: 01775-764667
Email: Richard.boole@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Yes / No

Exempt Decision: Yes / No 

This report refers to a function with statutory powers and duties.

3026



27



28



Breckland Council

Breckland Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2018

Breckland Council
Draft Air Quality Action Plan

In fulfilment of Part IV of the
Environment Act 1995
Local Air Quality Management

2018

29



Breckland Council

Breckland Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2018

Local Authority 
Officer Zandra Waterford

Department Public Protection

Address

Elizabeth House
Walpole Loke
Dereham
Norfolk NR19 1EE

Telephone 01362 656350

E-mail Zandra.waterford@breckland.gov.uk

Report Reference 
number AP01/18

Date Enter Date of Report

30



Breckland Council

Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018 i

Executive Summary
This draft Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) has been produced as part of our statutory 

duties required by the Local Air Quality Management framework. It outlines the action 

we will take to improve air quality in Breckland Council between 2018 and 2020

Air pollution is associated with a number of adverse health impacts. It is recognised 

as a contributing factor in the onset of heart disease and cancer. Additionally, air 

pollution particularly affects the most vulnerable in society: children and older people, 

and those with heart and lung conditions. There is also often a strong correlation with 

equalities issues, because areas with poor air quality are also often the less affluent 

areas1,2.

The annual health cost to society of the impacts of particulate matter alone in the UK 

is estimated to be around £16 billion3. Breckland Council is committed to reducing the 

exposure of people in Swaffham to poor air quality in order to improve health.

We are developing actions that can be considered under the following broad topics:

 Alternatives to private vehicle use
 Freight and delivery management
 Policy guidance and development control
 Promoting low emission energy usage;
 Promoting low emission transport
 Promoting travel alternatives
 Public information
 Transport planning and infrastructure
 Traffic management

Our priorities are to look at Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) emissions from traffic travelling 

through town and investigate ways to reduce congestion and exposure to emissions. 

In this AQAP we outline how we plan to effectively tackle air quality issues within our 

control. However, we recognise that there are a large number of air quality policy 

areas that are outside of our influence (such as vehicle emissions standards agreed 

in Europe), but for which we may have useful evidence, and so we will continue to 

work with regional and central government on policies and issues beyond Breckland 

Council’s direct influence.

1 Environmental equity, air quality, socioeconomic status and respiratory health, 2010
2 Air quality and social deprivation in the UK: an environmental inequalities analysis, 2006
3 Defra. Abatement cost guidance for valuing changes in air quality, May 2013

31



Breckland Council

Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018 ii

Responsibilities and Commitment
This AQAP was prepared by the Public Protection Team of Breckland Council with 

the support and agreement of the following officers and services:

Zandra Waterford Environmental Protection Officer

Andrew Grimley Team Leader Environmental Protection

Richard Boole Environmental Protection Manager

This draft AQAP has been approved by:

The Swaffham Air Quailty Action Plan Steering Group

District Councillors (Councillor Peter Wilkninson, Councillor Paul Darby)

Swaffham Town Council Mayor (Jill Skinner)

Public Heath England (Phil Shreeve Advanced Public Health Officer – Healthy 

Places)

Norfolk County Council Transport Planning (Ian Parkes Infrastructure and Economic 

Growth)

This AQAP will be subject to an annual review, appraisal of progress and reporting to 

the Overview and Scrutiny Commission. Progress each year will be reported in the 

Annual Status Reports (ASRs) produced by Breckland Council, as part of our 

statutory Local Air Quality Management duties.

If you have any comments on this AQAP please send them to Zandra Waterford at:

Breckland Council
Elizabeth House
Walpole Loke
Dereham NR10 1EE
01362 656350

Zandra.waterford@breckland.gov.uk

32



Breckland Council

Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018 iii

Table of Contents
Executive Summary .................................................................................................... i

Responsibilities and Commitment .........................................................................................i

1 Introduction........................................................................................................1
2 Summary of Current Air Quality in Breckland Council ..................................2
3 Breckland Council’s Air Quality Priorities ......................................................4

3.1 Public Health Context...............................................................................................5

3.2 Planning and Policy Context ....................................................................................5

3.3 Source Apportionment..............................................................................................6

3.4 Required Reduction in Emissions ............................................................................7

3.5 Key Priorities ............................................................................................................7

4 Development and Implementation of Breckland Council AQAP...................7
4.1 Consultation and Stakeholder Engagement.............................................................7

4.2 Steering Group .........................................................................................................9

5 AQAP Measures...............................................................................................11
Appendix A: Response to Consultation.................................................................20
Appendix B: Reasons for Not Pursuing Action Plan Measures ..........................21
<Appendix C:  Additional Appendices ..................................................................22
Glossary of Terms....................................................................................................24
References ................................................................................................................25

List of Tables
Table 4.1 ‒ Consultation Undertaken...........................................................................8
Table 5.1 ‒ Air Quality Action Plan Measures ............................................................18

List of Figures
Figure 1 - Air Quality monitoring sites in Swaffham………………………………2 
Figure 2 Figures and vehicle classification from a 24 hour 7 Day traffic count on 
A1065 Swaffham September 2014 8

33



Breckland Council

Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018 1

1 Introduction
This report outlines the actions that Breckland Council aims to deliver between 2018 

- 2022 in order to reduce concentrations of air pollutants and exposure to air 

pollution; thereby positively impacting on the health and quality of life of residents 

and visitors to the Breckland Council area of Swaffham

It has been developed in recognition of the legal requirement on the local authority to 

work towards Air Quality Strategy (AQS) objectives under Part IV of the Environment 

Act 1995 and relevant regulations made under that part and to meet the 

requirements of the Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) statutory process.

This Plan will be reviewed every five years at the latest and progress on measures 

set out within this Plan will be reported on annually within Breckland Council’s air 

quality Annual Status Report (ASR).

34



Breckland Council

Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018 2

2 Summary of Current Air Quality in 
Breckland Council

For the latest figures, please refer to the latest ASR from Breckland Council

Figure 1 Air Quality monitoring sites in Swaffham

In 2006 a mini roundabout was installed at the junction of Whitecross Road and 

London Street.  At the request of residents concerned with rising traffic levels, a 

diffusion tube was located at the junction on the façade of the nearest house.  This 

showed an exceedence of the annual objective and in 2008 continuous monitoring 

was installed further south along London Street.

The results since have not shown an exceedence at this location but the expanding 

tube network has shown that there are several locations along Station Street that are 

just above or below the annual objective.  It is these exceedences that we have tried 

35



Breckland Council

Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018 3

to address with various measures, including altering the timing of the traffic lights and 

commissioning reports to model changes to the town layout.  

We have not been successful in reducing NO2 concentrations with these measures 

and have now declared the AQMA in order to focus on a wider range of measures 

with partner organisations. 

Full details of all monitoring can be found in the Annual Status Report (ASR) 

viewable at https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/3244/Air-Pollution

As a result of this monitoring and the continuing exceedence of the annual mean for 

traffic related NO2 in Swaffham, an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) was 

declared on 1 May 2017.

Results can be seen in appendix C

36

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/3244/Air-Pollution


Breckland Council

Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018 4

3 Breckland Council’s Air Quality Priorities
Air Quality is high on the political agenda in Breckland and this is demonstrated in the 

planning and policy context given below.

Breckland Air Quality Priorities

1. To continue to encourage sustainable travel. The main sources of emissions in 

Swaffham are from road transport.  Any planning application in Swaffham is 

assessed for impact on air quality and potential mitigation is requested to address 

that impact. 

2. To reduce exposure to air pollution and to raise awareness. We are limited in 

what we can do to reduce poor air quality, as it is estimated that a proportion of the 

pollution in Swaffham is from sources outside the District. But we can help our 

residents to reduce their exposure by travelling differently, etc. We can also help 

residents to understand how they can make positive changes in their own behaviour 

to reduce pollution. This will be delivered through Public Health & Awareness Raising 

in the action plan. 

3. To work in partnership with residents, community groups, businesses and 
other organisations to concentrate on local pollution problems in Swaffham. 
The only way to ensure our AQAP is successful is to work closely with those the plan 

was written for, who know their local area better than anyone else and know where 

the problems are. This aim will be realised through the measures in the action plan. 

3.1 Public Health Context
Air pollution is harmful to everyone. However, some people suffer more than others

because they:

• live in deprived areas, which often have higher levels of air pollution

• live, learn or work near busy roads

• are more vulnerable because of their age or existing medical conditions

37



Breckland Council

Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018 5

The Royal College of Physicians’ 2016 Report ‘Every Breath We Take’ states: ‘Each 

year in the UK, around 40,000 deaths are attributable to exposure to outdoor air 

pollution, with more linked also to exposure to indoor pollutants.’10 Air pollution is 

associated with a number of adverse health impacts, particularly respiratory 

illnesses. It is also recognised as a contributing factor in the onset of heart disease 

and cancer. Additionally, air pollution particularly affects the most vulnerable in 

society: children and older people, and those with heart and lung conditions. There is 

also often a strong correlation with equalities issues, because areas with poor air 

quality are also often the less affluent areas11, 12. The annual health cost to society of 

the impacts of particulate matter alone in the UK is estimated to be around £16 

billion13. Breckland Council is committed to reducing the exposure of people in 

Swaffham to poor air quality in order to improve health. The Public Health England 

‘Public Health Outcomes Framework’ indicator ‘3.01 Fraction of mortality attributable 

to particulate air pollution (particulates under 2.5 micrometres in 2015 (the most 

recent year available) for Breckland is 4.8% (compared to 5.3% in 2013).  The same 

figures for England are 5.3% and 5.1% respectively.

10 Every Breath You Take – The Lifelong Impact of Air Pollution, Royal College of Physicians, February 2016.
11 Environmental equity, air quality, socioeconomic status and respiratory health, 2010
12 Air quality and social deprivation in the UK: an environmental inequalities analysis, 2006
13 Defra. Abatement cost guidance for valuing changes in air quality, May 2013

3.1 Planning and Policy Context
The Local Plan includes the following paragraph from Policy COM 01 Design

Development should be designed to reduce the impact on local air quality, 

particularly from road traffic, especially in those areas in or likely to impact on, areas 

identified as ‘at risk’ of exceeding air quality objectives.  

Source Apportionment: The measures presented in this report are intended to be 

targeted towards the predominant sources of emissions within Breckland Council’s 

area. 

A source apportionment exercise, carried out by Breckland Council, is currently 

underway.  This will identify the percentage source contributions from each sector to 

better help us target the most appropriate measures.

38



Breckland Council

Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018 6

When this is completed we will summarise percentage contribution to emissions and 

overall concentrations as appropriate.

3.2 Source Apportionment
The AQAP measures presented in this report are intended to be targeted towards the 

predominant sources of emissions within Breckland Council’s area. 

Car 43148
Cycle and Motor Cycle 541
LGV 1768
Short Towing 877
HGV Rigid 2 and Bus 1331
HGV rigid 3 and 4 460
HGV ART 3-6 AX 604

Note – North Bound only – awaiting possible information from NCC.

Figure 2 Figures and vehicle classification from a 24 hour 7 Day traffic count on 

A1065 Swaffham September 2014

A source apportionment exercise will be carried out by Breckland Council in 2018 

39



Breckland Council

Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018 7

3.3 More work is required in this section and will be added as the plan is 
further developed.

3.4 Required Reduction in Emissions

3.5 More work is required in this section and will be added as the plan is 
further developed.

3.6 Key Priorities
The purpose of this plan is to protect the health and wellbeing of the people, who live,
work in and visit Swaffham from the effects of air pollution.

 Tackling the sources of pollution that the council can control – for 
example through our planning policies, working with Highways.

 Raising residents’ and businesses’ awareness of what they can do to
reduce their own emissions and avoid exposing themselves to existing
pollution.

 Lobby the government to make the changes needed to improve air quality
across the Country

 Work with our partner organisations to make the improvements needed to 
reduce pollution in Swaffham 

4 Development and Implementation of 
Breckland Council AQAP

4.1 Consultation and Stakeholder Engagement
In developing/updating this AQAP, we have worked with other local authorities, 

agencies, businesses and the local community to improve local air quality. Schedule 

11 of the Environment Act 1995 requires local authorities to consult the bodies listed 

in the Act 

In addition, we are undertaking the following stakeholder engagement:

 Open days in Swaffham

 Articles in local newspaper and the town Newsletter

 Questionnaires in electronic and paper format made available on the website 
and at venues in the Town.

 Working with the Swaffham Neighbourhood Plan Group.

40



Breckland Council

Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018 8

 Local businesses

The response to our consultation stakeholder engagement is given in Appendix A.

Table 4.1 ‒ Consultation Undertaken

Yes/No Consultee

Yes the Secretary of State

Yes the Environment Agency

Yes the highways authority

No all neighbouring local authorities

No other public authorities as appropriate, such as Public Health officials

Yes bodies representing local business interests and other organisations as 
appropriate

41



Breckland Council

Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018 9

4.2 Steering Group

Breckland’s AQAP Steering Group has been formed to ensure clear governance and 

ownership of the plan. The Steering Group consists of representatives from 

Breckland Council, and also Norfolk County Council Traffic Planners, Breckland 

Planning Department, Public Heath Norfolk, and the Swaffham Town Council.  The 

group will meet every two months initially but thereafter as and when, but not less 

than 6 monthly, to evaluate progress in implementing the AQAP, to approve Annual 

Status Reports (every 12 months) and to identify the following: 

 if there are existing programmes in other areas that will contribute to 

emissions reductions (or increases) that should be accounted for within the 

AQAP 

 what may influence the local pollution situation in the near future (i.e. 5 to 10 

years) 

 the future trends that are likely to contribute (regional emissions trends as well 

as local factors) 

  if more technical assessment may be required before proceeding to updating 

the AQAP 

  if traffic management interventions are required 

The AQAP Steering Group is chaired by the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee. Minutes of the Steering Group meetings and reports showing any 

changes to the actions listed or new actions added, along with their rationale, will be 

available on Breckland Council’s Website. (The Overview and Scrutiny Commission 

and its Task and Finish Groups support the work of the Cabinet and the Council as a 

whole.  They allow citizens to have a greater say in Council matters by holding public 

inquiries into matters of local concern.)

The AQMA Steering Group was formed in May 2017 and is composed of officers 

from Breckland Council, Transport Planners and Public Health from Norfolk County 

Council and Councillors from Breckland and Swaffham Town Councils.

42



Breckland Council

Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018 10

5 AQAP Measures
Table 5.1 below shows the Breckland Council AQAP measures. It contains:

 a list of the actions that form part of the plan

 the responsible individual and departments/organisations who will deliver this 
action

 estimated cost of implementing each action (overall cost and cost to the local 
authority)

 expected benefit in terms of pollutant emission and/or concentration reduction

 the timescale for implementation

 how progress will be monitored

NB: Please see future ASRs for regular annual updates on implementation of these 
measures

More work is required in this section and will be added as the plan is further 

developed.

43



Breckland Council

11 Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018

No Measure EU Measure 
Category

EU Measure 
Classification

Focus Lead Planning phase Implementation 
phase

Indicator Target NO2
reduction 
impact (µg/m3)

POLICY ACTIONS
1 Consideration of Air 

Quality Impacts when 
providing comments on 
planning applications 
within an AQMA or where 
an AQMA could be 
impacted or created.

Policy 
Guidance and 
Development 
Control

Air Quality 
Planning and 
Policy 
Guidance

Comment on pre-application 
discussions, advise planners on 
significance of impacts, agree 
conditions and S106 
agreements

District Council (LPA 
&
Env Protection 
Team)

ongoing ongoing Number of 
pre 
application 
discussion
s and 
planning 
application
s 
responded 
to

Up to 1

2 With regard to National 
Planning Policy Framework, 
include air quality 
considerations in the Local 
Plans and adopt an air quality 
Development Management 
Policy.

Policy 
Guidance and 
Development 
Control

Air Quality 
Planning and 
Policy 
Guidance

Give appropriate weight to air 
quality in the decision making 
process

District Council (LPA 
&
Env Protection 
Team)

Completed 2017 Productio
n of 
document
s

Up to 1

3 With regard to National 
Planning Policy Framework, 
adopt Norfolk Technical 
Guidance on Air Quality and 
provide pre- application 
advice on planning 
applications

Policy 
Guidance and 
Development 
Control

Air Quality 
Planning and 
Policy 
Guidance

Raise air quality concerns early 
in the decision making process 
and provide a technical 
framework

District Council (LPA 
&
Env Protection 
Team)

Productio
n of 
document
s

Up to 1

4 Include air quality 
considerations with the 
scoping and determination of 
planning applications

Policy 
Guidance and 
Development 
Control

Air Quality 
Planning and 
Policy 
Guidance

Raise awareness of air quality 
issues with planning authority 
and developers

District Council (LPA 
&
Env Protection 
Team)

Up to 1

5 Include air quality as a topic in 
the Neighbourhood Plan and 
future Local Plan documents

Policy 
Guidance and 
Development 
Control

Air Quality 
Planning and 
Policy 
Guidance

Raise awareness of air quality 
issues with planning authority

District Council (LPA 
&
Env Protection 
Team)

Up to 1

44



Breckland Council

12 Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018

6 Review car parking policy 
arrangements and consider the 
implementation of control 
measures, enforcement and 
the likely benefits. This will 
need to be compatible with the 
proposed countywide review of 
Civil Parking Enforcement 
(CPE)

Traffic 
Management

County Council
(supported by 
District Council 
Town Council)

Up to 1

TRANSPORT MEASURES
7 Further investigate an 

improvement at the Station 
Street/Mangate Street junction 
to reduce queuing and delays 
particularly on Station Street 
and, if appropriate, devise a 
scheme for implementation. 
This may result in removing 
the traffic lights.

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure

Strategic 
highway 
improvement
s, Re-
prioritising 
road space 
away from 
cars, 
including 
Access 
management
, Selective 
vehicle 
priority, bus 
priority, high 
vehicle 
occupancy 
lane

County Council
(supported by 
District Council 
Town Council)

Up to 1

8 Review town centre one-way 
system to create a better 
circulation of traffic around the 
town and, if appropriate, 
devise a revised layout

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure

County Council
(supported by 
District Council 
Town Council)

Up to 1

9 Review town centre car 
parking arrangements to 
minimise vehicular traffic in 
sensitive areas and, if 
appropriate, devise a revised 
strategy

Traffic 
Management

County Council
(supported by 
District Council 
Town Council)

Up to 1

45



Breckland Council

13 Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018

10 Consider options for new car 
parks on the edge of the town 
to keep vehicles from entering  
the town centre

Traffic 
Management

County Council
(supported by 
District Council 
Town Council)

Up to 1

11 Review illegal and habitual bad 
parking on Station Street that 
hinders traffic flow and devise 
restrictions to prevent it 
happening

Traffic 
Management

County Council
(supported by 
District Council 
Town Council)

Up to 1

12 Investigate the possibility of an 
HGV ban on the A1065 
through the town centre and, if 
appropriate, devise a scheme 
for implementation

Traffic 
Management

County Council
(supported by 
District Council 
Town Council)

Up to 1

13 Undertake preliminary 
investigations into an A1065 
bypass linking to the A47 with 
a view to establishing it in the 
Neighbourhood/Local Plan

Traffic 
Management

County Council
(supported by 
District Council 
Town Council)

Up to 1

14 Encourage greater use of 
public transport for journeys 
into the town centre

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure

Encourage alternatives to car 
use and to single car 
occupancy and reduce need to 
travel for work. Particularly at 
large employers

County Council
(supported by 
District Council 
Town Council)

Up to 1

15 Improve walking and cycling 
facilities in and around the 
town

Promoting 
Travel 
Alternatives

Encourage alternatives to car 
use and to single car 
occupancy and reduce need to 
travel for work. Particularly at 
large employers

County Council
District Council 
Town Council

Up to 1

16 Review existing travel 
arrangements to schools and 
any existing Travel Plans 
including the role of car 
sharing

Promoting 
Travel 
Alternatives

Encourage alternatives to car 
use and to single car 
occupancy and reduce need to 
travel for work. Particularly at 
large employers

County Council
(supported by 
District Council 
Town Council)

Up to 1

46



Breckland Council

14 Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018

17 Investigate the possibility of 
car clubs to encourage lower 
car ownership and lower car 
use when non car alternatives 
are not suitable

Traffic 
Management

County Council
(supported by 
District Council 
Town Council)

Up to 1

EMISSIONS ACTIONS

18 Investigate the provision of 
electric vehicle (EV) charging 
points to encourage greater 
use of EV

Promoting Low 
Emission 
Transport

Encourage the use of electric 
vehicles within the town centre

County Council
(supported by 
District Council 
Town Council
Highways England)

Up to 1

19 Investigate measures to 
encourage/enforce bus 
operators to use vehicles with 
the best emissions standards

Promoting Low 
Emission 
Transport

Contract between the Council 
and bus operators that include 
type of bus, level of service and 
vehicle emissions

County Council Up to 1

20 Encourage greater use of 
public transport for journeys 
into the town centre

Promoting 
Travel 
Alternatives

County Council
(supported by 
District Council 
Town Council)

Up to 1

PUBLIC HEALTH MEASURES

21 Promotion of road 
safety/Eco driving 
awareness, anti-idling at 
junctions. Education of AQ 
issues at Schools

Promoting 
Health 
Initiatives and 
Air Quality 
Awareness

County Council
(supported by 
District Council 
Town Council)

Up to 1

22 Investigate Green space 
initiatives

Promoting 
Health 
Initiatives and 
Air Quality 
Awareness

County Council
(supported by 
District Council 
Town Council)

Up to 1

47



Breckland Council

15 Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018

48



Breckland Council

16 Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018

Appendix A: Response to Consultation
Table A.1 ‒ Summary of Responses to Consultation and Stakeholder 
Engagement on the AQAP

Consultee Category Response

Public Health 
England

Health 
Authority

Agree

Norfolk County 
Council Highways

Highways Agree

Swaffham 
Neighbourhood 
Plan Group

Local Interest 
Group

Agree

Swaffham Town 
Council

Local Interest 
Group

Agree

Public Local Interest 
Group

                                             Percentage /Number

Local resident 84.13% 159
Local business 
owner/manager

2.65% 5

School pupil in Swaffham 2.65% 5
Person who works in 
Swaffham

7.94% 15

Person who visits Swaffham 
town centre

29.63% 56

Local councillor 2.12% 4
Local community group 
representative

4.23% 8

Other (please specify) 4.23% 8

Broadly agree with comments below

Questions asked in the Public Consultation exercise

1. Consider the impact on air quality when commenting on planning applications within 

or adjacent to an Air Quality Management Area.

2. Include air quality matters in the Swaffham Neighbourhood Plan, and Breckland’s 

emerging Local Plan.

3. Consider the impact on air quality when scoping and determining planning 

applications, and when providing pre-application advice.

49



Breckland Council

17 Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018

4. Adopt an Air Quality Development Management policy - this would provide guidance 

for developers on how to minimise the impact of development on air quality.

5. Review car parking policy, and investigate further control and enforcement measures.

6. Investigate improvements to improve traffic flow in the town centre, including 

junctions, traffic controls and new layouts

7. Investigate car parking arrangements; this could include options for new car parks on 

the edge of town.

8. Investigate measures to keep HGVs out of the town centre, including consideration of 

an A1065 bypass.

9. Investigate ways to reduce the environmental impact of traffic, including encouraging 

the use of public transport and car-share, and improving walking and cycling facilities 

in town.

10. Investigate the provision of infrastructure for electric vehicles (EV).

11. Encourage bus operators to use vehicles with the best emissions standards.

12. Educate drivers on how different driving styles can affect air quality, and encourage 

them to adopt more eco-friendly driving to reduce this.

13. Introduce air quality as a topic in local schools.

14. Investigate green space initiatives, for example, creating green corridors within the 

town so people are able to avoid areas with air quality issues.

While there was broad agreement with most measures, some received less support. 
These were as follows 

 Educate drivers to adopt more eco-friendly driving styles’ (76% support), 

 Introduce air quality as a topic in schools’ (82% support) 

 and ‘investigate car parking arrangements’ (79% support).

Other suggestions/comments were as follows

 Reducing the amount of HGV / agricultural traffic through the town centre 

(25%),

 Limiting future development until traffic issues have been resolved (5%)

 Investigation of providing a by-pass (22%),

 Looking at traffic enforcement measures to reduce speed / car parking issues 

(4%)

50



Breckland Council

18 Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018

 Increase traffic flows (1%),

 Introducing more greenery (2%),

 Improving signage (2%),

 Providing more cycle lanes and safe walk ways (8%),

 Improving public transport (4%) 

 Investigating road and car parking within the town (11%)

There were some details comments on traffic planning and road layouts that will be 

investigated as part of the ongoing discussion with partner organisations into the viability of 

the relevant specified measures.

51



Breckland Council

19 Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018

Appendix B: Reasons for Not Pursuing Action Plan Measures
Table B.1 ‒ Action Plan Measures Not Pursued and the Reasons for that Decision

Action category Action description Reason action is not being pursued (including 
Stakeholder views)

More work is required in this section and will 
be added as the plan is further developed.

52



Breckland Council

20 Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018

<Appendix C: Add Additional Appendices as Required>
Results for monitoring of NO2 in Swaffham 2017

Location ID Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec
Annual 
Mean

Bias 
Factor

0.91
Impsons Butchers 
Swaffham 1 S1 34.14 32.78 25.07 21.14 22.36 20.38 18.3 20.45 22.58 20.30 25.32 18.64 23.46 21.34
Ceres Books 
Swaffham 2 S2 50.33 47.98 42.07 40.4 30.03 33.00 33.76 36.61 35.54 37.33 45.49 34.34 38.91 35.41
London St Opp PO3 S3 43.87 34.14 27.90 24.23 28.75 23.70 27.7 27.78 30.88 27.39 32.1 23.06 29.29 26.66
London St Opp 
PO3a S3a 44.56 36.36 28.88 27.90 29.40 27.92 27.49 28.77 32.18 27.53 31.01 21.75 30.31 27.58
London St Opp 
PO3b S3b 41.65 36.19 28.76 28.30 29.81 28.34 26.01 28.86 30.39 28.90 30.76 25.37 30.28 27.55
Bridewell Place 
Swaffham 4 S4 28.68 33.06 23.62 27.40 25.94 23.63 22.01 13.2 25.38 22.14 27.66 19.38 24.34 22.15
London St Opp 
zebra cross S5 33.57 29.86 25.14 29.29 23.18 21.68 24.58 16.14 26.2 23.8 35.19 27.48 26.34 23.97
London St N 
Roundabout S6 44.78 38.25 34.33 34.39 27.75 30.57 32.33 33.13 33.29 32.91 36.97 27.52 33.85 30.81
Station Road 
Swaffham S7 44.04 41.38 39.60 31.05 33.15 32.51 30.42 31.34 32.7 30.04 35.48 32.86 34.55 31.44
Station Road 
Swaffham S8 51.92 47.82 40.72 38.57 30.88 36.86 38.02 39.16 39.44 41.04 34.46 39.49 39.87 36.28
Anglia Computer 
Solutions S9 35.68 28.47 25.19 26.90 21.70 22.46 22.93 21.82 25.14 22.14 29.49 23.62 25.46 23.17
Kev's tackle S10 31.59 28.63 24.42 27.65 22.93 27.79 21.86 24.18 23.19 23.27 32.64 28.63 26.40 24.02
13 Station Road S11 45.09 47.77 34.97 36.12 32.57 37.01 31.23   31.70 32.87 27.02 35.64 32.43
Glaisedale L Post S12 40.22   38.28 35.75 24.30   38.3 34.9 37.51  35.61 32.40
33 Station Rd S13 35.98 30.78 25.23 24.98 24.16 24.10 20.3 23.88 25.11 22.17 24.98 20.93 25.22 22.95
Corner Whitecross S14 34.79 27.63 25.12 24.32 21.75  20.54 22.00 23.54 21.30 27.71 22.10 24.62 22.40

53



Breckland Council

Breckland Council Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018 21

Glossary of Terms

Abbreviation Description

AQAP Air Quality Action Plan - A detailed description of measures, 
outcomes, achievement dates and implementation methods, 
showing how the local authority intends to achieve air quality limit 
values’

AQMA Air Quality Management Area – An area where air pollutant 
concentrations exceed / are likely to exceed the relevant air quality 
objectives. AQMAs are declared for specific pollutants and 
objectives

AQS Air Quality Strategy

ASR Air quality Annual Status Report

Defra Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs

EU European Union

LAQM Local Air Quality Management

NO2 Nitrogen Dioxide

NOx Nitrogen Oxides

PM10 Airborne particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 10µm 
(micrometres or microns) or less

PM2.5 Airborne particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 2.5µm 
or less

… …

54



Breckland Council

Breckland Council  Draft Air Quality Action Plan - 2018 22

References

More work is required in this section and will be added as the plan is further 

developed.

55



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Alison Webb Executive Member for People and Information

To: Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 19 April
Cabinet, 1 May

Author: Sarah Shipley, Food, Health and Safety Manager

Subject: Corporate Enforcement Policy

Purpose:     To seek approval of a revised Corporate Enforcement Policy

Recommendation: 

1) That the revised Corporate Enforcement Policy be approved by Cabinet.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Council is responsible for enforcing a wide range of legislation, with powers of       
enforcement usually delegated to individual officers in the various service areas concerned.  
The decision to take (or not take) enforcement action is a serious one that may have 
implications for all involved and it is therefore important that there is a policy in place that 
ensures fairness, openness, and consistency.

1.2 Enforcement action can take different forms including:
 Inspecting premises, processes, equipment or food
 Investigating complaints about individuals and business 
 Providing advice about how to comply with the law
 Taking action at Licensing Panels or undertaking Licensing Reviews
 Issuing fixed penalty notices, statutory notices or taking prosecutions

1.3 Breckland Council last adopted a Corporate Enforcement Policy in 2010. This policy was    
written in accordance with the Enforcement Concordat, which has since been superseded, 
first by the Regulators’ Compliance Code, and more recently by the Regulators’ Code.

1.4 Main Changes

1.4.1 The Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006 imposes a duty on anyone exercising a 
specified regulatory function to have regard to the principles of good regulation.  The 
principles provide that regulatory activities should be carried out in a way that is 
transparent, accountable, proportionate and consistent and should be targeted only at 
cases in which action is needed.

1.4.2 Under Section 23 of the Act, the Minister issued the Regulators’ Code in 2014, which gives 
guidance on exercising regulatory functions. As a regulatory body, the Council is under a 
duty to have regard to the Code in exercising regulatory powers, setting standards or giving 
general advice. 

56

Agenda Item 10



1.4.3 The proposed policy, attached as an appendix to this report, creates one single, joint 
Corporate Enforcement Policy and brings it in-line with current requirements. The proposed 
Policy starts from the premise that most businesses and individuals want to comply with the 
law. Help and support will be provided to enable them to meet their legal obligations without 
unnecessary expenses, while firm action will be taken against those who flout the law or act 
irresponsibly. It seeks to assist officers in the decision making process, to ensure a 
consistent approach when using the range of enforcement tools available to them.

1.4.4 In revising this Policy, officers have considered how best to:
 Understand and minimise negative economic impacts of enforcement activities;
 Minimise the costs of compliance for those who are regulated;
 Improve confidence in compliance for those who are regulated; and
 Encourage and promote compliance with legislative requirements.

1.4.5 The intention of the Policy is to ensure that any enforcement action is compliant with the 
relevant legislation, codes of practice and government guidance. Also it must be 
transparent and accountable, proportionate, targeted, consistent in approach and 
appropriate.

1.4.6 The diversity of regulatory powers makes it difficult to encapsulate detailed 
processes in this policy. Often there are detailed and differing processes that need 
to be followed. For this reason, whilst the policy sets out principles that will be 
followed, more detail is contained in service specific policies which will form 
appendices to the Corporate Enforcement Policy. 

1.4.7 The policy will apply to all Council services with enforcement functions: 
 Legal;
 Place – Communities, Housing and Environmental Services;
 Public Protection;
 Planning and Building Control;
 Finance and 
 Revenue and Benefits.

2.0       OPTIONS

2.1 Adopt the revised Corporate Enforcement Policy to guide all enforcement activities 
undertaken by all service areas with a regulatory responsibility.

2.2 Do nothing and retain the previous published Corporate Enforcement Policy dated 2010, 
contrary to current regulatory requirements and statutory guidance.

3.0       REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To ensure legal compliance and to ensure that enforcement action taken by the Council is 
better able to resist a challenge in the courts 

4.0       EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 A revised Corporate Enforcement Policy will set out the standards that will be applied 
across the Council, when acting in its role as regulator and enforcement agency, and what 
residents, business and workers can expect from Breckland Council.

57



4.2 The adoption of a revised policy will ensure that officers undertaking regulatory work will do 
so in a consistent and transparent way, and in accordance with current legal requirements.  

4.3      This will ensure a reduced risk of challenge in the courts and the potential loss of a case for 
            failing to comply with correct procedure.

5.0       IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues 

5.1.1 This report has no carbon footprint or environmental implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 The Council is under a duty to have regard to the Regulators’ Code when exercising its 
regulatory powers, setting standards or giving general advice. 

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 This report does not give rise to any contract implications.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 The proposals support the following Council priorities:
 Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive;
 Providing the right services, at the right time and in the right way;
 Developing the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth; and
 Enabling stronger, more independent communities.

5.5     Crime and Disorder

5.5.1 This report supports regulatory work undertaken by the Council.

5.6     Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 This report does not give rise to any equality and diversity, or human rights implications.

5.7     Financial 

5.7.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

58



5.8.1 This report supports the regulatory work undertaken by the Council to promote health & 
wellbeing of residents, visitors and workers.

5.9 Reputation 

5.9.1 The adoption of the Corporate Enforcement Policy will ensure that regulatory activities are 
undertaken in an open and transparent manner and in accordance with current statutory 
requirements, promoting a positive image of the Council.

5.10 Risk Management 

5.10.1 The adoption of a Corporate Enforcement Policy that is followed by staff while undertaking 
regulatory activities should reduce the risk of the Council being open to legal challenge or 
judicial review if decisions are made based on incorrect procedure.

5.11 Safeguarding

5.11.1 This report does not give rise to any safeguarding implications.

5.12 Staffing

5.12.1 This report does not give rise to any staffing implications, other than ensuring that those 
involved in regulatory activities are made aware of the new policy and procedures reviewed 
to ensure compliance. 

5.13 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.13.1 The draft Corporate Enforcement Policy has been developed in consultation with all service 
areas of the Council involved in regulatory work.

5.13.2 A copy of the draft Corporate Enforcement Policy has also be sent to key 
stakeholders and on the Council’s website inviting comment.

5.14 Transformation Programme

5.14.1 This report does not give rise to any implications for the Transformation Programme

6.0       WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All Wards and communities within Breckland

7.0       ACRONYMS 

7.1 All acronyms are clarified within the body of the report.

Background papers: - None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Sarah Shipley, Food, Health and Safety Manager
Telephone Number: 01362 656849
Email: sarah.shipley@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

59



Key Decision: Yes 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Corporate Enforcement Policy

60



1

Breckland Council and South Holland Council

Corporate Enforcement 
Policy

DRAFT

Date: Second draft 6/1218
Revision Date:
Authorised by:

61



2

Table of Contents                                   Page
Section 1. Introduction         3

Section 2. Purpose of the Policy 5

Section 3. When this policy applies 5
3.1 Scope of the Policy 5

Section 4. Non-Compliance 6
4.1 Approach to dealing with non-compliance 6
4.2 How action taken is determined 7
4.3 Factors that influence our response to breaches 7
4.4 Approach to complaints of non-compliance 8

Section 5. Conduct of Investigations 8
5.1 Powers of authorised officers 8
5.2 Progress of investigations 9

Section 6. Decisions on Enforcement Action 9
6.1 The range of actions available as set out in legislation 9
6.2 Explanation of how decisions are made on enforcement action 12
6.3 Explanation of how decisions are communicated to those affected 13

Section 7. Review of this Policy 13
7.1 Details of when and how the policy will be reviewed 13

Section 8. Comments and Complaints 13
8.1 Details of processes for complaints and appeals 13

62



3

Corporate Enforcement Policy

1. Introduction
The Council carries out a wide range of regulatory roles in meeting its many 
statutory duties of protecting the public, individuals and the environment. 
These duties are met by carrying out a range of activities, including carrying 
out programmed inspections of premises, responding to complaints, issuing 
licences and offering advice. This Policy outlines the approach it takes when 
considering enforcement action. 

This policy is an overarching policy that applies to all the Council’s Services 
with enforcement duties, although it should be noted that some services also 
have more specific enforcement requirements, as defined by specific 
legislative guidance and regulations.

The appropriate use of the full range of enforcement powers, including 
prosecution, is important, both to secure compliance with the law and to 
ensure that those who have duties under it are held to account for failures to 
safeguard health, safety, welfare and environment or breach of regulations 
enforced by the Council.

In deciding on the most appropriate course of action officers should have 
regard to the principles set out in this policy and the need to maintain a 
balance between enforcement and other activities, including inspection, 
advice and education.

a) Principles of Good Regulation
Regulatory activities undertaken by the Council will be exercised in a way that 
are:

i. Proportionate – activities will reflect the level of risk to the public and 
enforcement action taken will relate to the seriousness of the offence;

ii. Accountable – activities will be open to public scrutiny, with clear and 
accessible policies, and fair and efficient complaints procedures;

iii. Consistent – advice given to those regulated will be robust and reliable 
and officers will respect advice provided by other regulators. The Council 
shall seek to ensure consistency of enforcement; however the Council 
realises that consistency is not a simple matter of uniformity. Officers will 
need to exercise their professional judgement and discretion according to 
the circumstances of each individual case and the relevant responsibilities 
and intervention systems maintained by the Council;

iv. Transparent – Officers will ensure that those they regulate are able to 
understand what is expected of them and what they can anticipate in 
return, and

v. Targeted – Resources will be focused on higher risk enterprises and 
activities, reflecting local need and national priorities and where the 

63



4

Council believes its efforts are able to have an impact.

b) Regulators’ Code
The Council has had regard to the Regulators’ Code in the preparation of this 
policy. In certain instances it may conclude that a provision in the Code is 
either not relevant or is outweighed by another provision. Where statutory 
guidance and legislation specifies the action to be taken this legislation takes 
precedence.

c) Human Rights Act 1998
The Council is a public authority for the purposes of the Human Rights Act 
1998. It therefore applies the principles of the European Convention for the 
Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms. This Policy and all 
associated enforcement decisions take account of the provisions of the 
Human Rights Act 1998. In particular, due regard is had to the right to a fair 
trial and the right to respect for private and family life, home and 
correspondence.

d) General Data Protection Regulation and Data Protection Act 2018
Officers will comply with all relevant data protection laws and any associated 
statutes, regulations and guidance.

e) The Code for Crown Prosecutors
When deciding whether to institute criminal proceedings the Council has 
regard to the provisions of The Code for Crown Prosecutors as issued by the 
Director of Public Prosecutions.

The Code for Crown Prosecutors is a public document that sets out the 
general principles to follow when decisions are made in respect of prosecuting 
cases. The Code sets out two tests that must be satisfied commonly referred 
to as the ‘Evidential Test’ and the ‘Public Interest Test’:

(i) Evidential Test - is there enough evidence against the defendant?
When deciding whether there is enough evidence to prosecute, the 
Council will consider what evidence can be used in court and is 
reliable. It must be satisfied there is enough evidence to provide a 
"realistic prospect of conviction" against each alleged offender.

(ii) Public Interest Test - is it in the public interest for the case to be 
brought to court? The Council will balance factors for and against 
prosecution carefully and fairly, considering each case on its merits. 
The public interest factors that we will take into account are detailed 
under the enforcement options available to us in Section 6.

Legal Status of this Enforcement Policy
This Policy was approved by the (*TO BE INSERTED and was adopted by
Council on TO BE INSERTED) following an open public 

2. Purpose of this Policy
One of the functions of the Council is to act as a regulator and an 

64



5

enforcement agency for a large range of legal duties and powers applied by 
Acts of Parliament and the Regulations and Orders made under them 
(including various byelaws).

This policy sets out standards that will be applied across the Council when 
acting in its role as regulator and enforcement agency and what residents, 
businesses, consumers and workers can expect from the Council.

It is supplemented in some cases by more specific and detailed service-based 
procedures.

These procedures also set out the approach to be followed by authorised 
officers when making decisions in respect of the Council’s compliance and 
enforcement activities. The Council is committed to ensuring that all 
authorised officers will act in accordance with this policy.

3. When this Policy Applies

3.1 Scope of the Policy
This policy is the overarching enforcement policy for the Council. It outlines 
the approach to enforcement and lays down the principles that will be followed 
in deciding upon, and taking action.

Enforcement includes any criminal or civil action taken by the Council aimed 
at ensuring that individuals or businesses comply with the law.

This policy has been set in accordance with the Regulators’ Code. This 
means that the Council will be open, helpful, fair and careful to ensure that 
any action required by the Council is proportionate to the risks.

The Council has set out its strategic aims and objectives and its enforcement 
services will carry out their duties in support of these. This approach is 
intended to provide better information to businesses and the community and, 
by doing so, lend support to the Council’s aim to deliver the right service, at 
the right time and in the right way.

Council services will work with and consult other agencies, and other service 
areas within the Council, as necessary, where there is a shared or 
complementary enforcement role.

Officers will take reasonable steps to assist businesses and individuals to 
comply with the law. However officers will be prepared to ensure compliance 
by exercising the formal powers delegated to them in the Council's Scheme of 
Delegation including, where appropriate, prosecution.

In certain circumstances the Council will seek to raise awareness and 
increase compliance levels by publicising unlawful trade practices or criminal 
activity. Where appropriate the results of specific court cases may also be 
published.

65



6

4. Non-Compliance

4.1 Approach to dealing with non-compliance
An open, fair and proportionate approach will be taken in dealing with 
breaches of legislation that are regulated and enforced by the Council. 
Raising awareness and promoting good practice in regulated areas is the first 
step in preventing breaches, and officers of the Council will signpost to 
guidance on aspects of the law where requested to do so.

Best efforts will be used to resolve any issues where the law may have been 
broken without taking formal action, or referring the matter to the courts when 
the circumstances indicate that a minor offence may have been committed 
and the Council is confident that appropriate corrective action will be taken. 
However, there may be occasions when the breach is considered to be 
serious and/or where informal action is not appropriate. In such cases, 
immediate enforcement action may be taken without prior notice and, as 
noted above, some services have specific legislative guidance and 
regulations that set out the enforcement requirements in these services.

Advice regarding the non-compliance, the actions required and decisions 
taken at the time of the intervention, along with the reasons for these will be 
clearly explained. An opportunity to discuss the Council’s course of action will 
be provided to ensure actions are proportionate and consistent. As stated in 
the previous paragraph, where immediate enforcement action is required, the 
opportunity for discussion may not be given where there is a serious breach 
or public health or safety is at risk.

Officers investigate potential breaches of legislation and they are responsible 
for managing investigations and making decisions on enforcement action. As 
part of this process, they may consult with colleagues and managers in 
determining the best and most appropriate course of action. Officers have the 
power to use a variety of legislation in the course of their duties, and these 
have been delegated to them in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of 
Delegation.  In relation to prosecutions, where relevant, officers’ cases are 
reviewed by a service manager and approved following a case conference 
involving key officers, as defined in the Scheme of Delegation.

In some instances, the Council may have shared responsibilities or a 
complementary role with another enforcement agency. In these 
circumstances, officers will liaise with that other agency to ensure effective co-
ordination, to avoid inconsistencies and to ensure that any proceedings taken 
are proportionate and appropriate.

The Council will be fair, objective and consistent in its approach to 
enforcement by following the criteria and guidance set down in relevant 
legislation and codes of practice.

The Council may publicise information about enforcement action in line with 
the Criminal Justice System document entitled ‘Publicising Sentencing 

66



7

Outcomes’.  This will usually occur once an investigation has been brought to 
a conclusion via a successful prosecution in Court. Any news releases of this 
nature are normally sent electronically by the Communications Team to 
newspapers and broadcast media to use in their news bulletins. Such 
information may also be publicised on the Council’s website and via other 
social media.

4.2 How action taken is determined
Where evidence is found that a business or other regulated person is showing 
flagrant disregard for the law by deliberately or persistently failing to comply 
with advice or requests made by the Council, it may be deemed that informal 
action is not appropriate. Under these circumstances enforcement action may 
be escalated directly to prosecution or other more severe sanctions where 
available.

Where there is specific legislative guidance and regulations that set out the 
enforcement requirements these will be followed.

Where a business or other regulated person contacts the Council to ask for 
advice and it transpires that a breach of legislation is present at the premises, 
the most appropriate course of action will be determined based on the factors 
outlined in section 6 below.

If it is clear that the business or regulated person is keen to resolve the non-
compliance quickly, taking on board and completing the steps recommended 
by the Council, an informal approach is likely to be taken as opposed to 
triggering enforcement action.  However, if there is a serious breach and/or 
there is an imminent risk to public health or safety, enforcement action may 
still have to be taken but the Council will seek to work with the business or 
regulated person to resolve the problem as quickly as possible.

4.3 Factors that influence our response to breaches
Where a breach of legislation is being investigated the approach taken will be 
proportionate and will take into account factors such as business size and 
capacity.

If the Council has provided advice or guidance to a business or regulated 
person, officers will make the necessary checks to ensure that, where this 
relates to a legal requirement rather than best practice, the non-compliance 
has been rectified.

The Council may receive referrals from other enforcement bodies that require 
investigation. These referrals will typically be as a result of the other bodies’ 
inspections or investigations, or intelligence that they have received. The 
Council will also refer to other enforcement bodies where breaches of 
legislation that are dealt with by that body are found.

4.4 Approach to complaints of non-compliance
Where a complaint of non-compliance relating to a business, or other 
regulated person, is received the officers investigating this breach will assess 

67



8

the information received and may make further enquiries to determine 
whether a complaint requires investigation. In assessing a complaint, officers 
may consult colleagues and managers to help assess what risk may be 
involved and this will determine what action is taken.

5. Conduct of Investigations
Enforcement action may result in either civil or criminal proceedings being 
instituted by the Council. The process that will be followed by officers in the 
investigation of alleged breaches of the law will depend on which branch of 
law the investigation is being conducted under.  As the enforcing authority in 
any proceedings it instigates, the burden of proof falls to the Council.

Investigations will be carried out in compliance with the following legislation 
and in accordance with any associated guidance or codes of practice, in so 
far as they relate to the Council:
 The Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996;
 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000;
 The Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001;
 The Human Rights Act 1998;
 The Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984

These Acts and associated guidance control how evidence is collected and 
used and give a range of protections to citizens and potential defendants.

The authorised officers of the Council will also comply with the requirements 
of the particular legislation under which they are acting, and with any 
associated guidance or codes of practice.

5.1 Powers of Authorised Officers
There are numerous pieces of legislation which the Council as a local 
authority either has a duty to enforce or adopts or chooses to enforce. The 
powers available to officers under these different pieces of legislation vary 
considerably and it is not the purpose of this document to provide an 
exhaustive list of those powers.

If officers come across situations where they believe they are being 
obstructed in carrying out their duties they will always explain the provisions of 
the relevant legislation in order to resolve the issue.

The Council recognises the Primary Authority scheme and where appropriate 
will communicate with any identified primary authority as part of the 
enforcement/compliance process.

In some cases powers of seizure are used for safety and evidence gathering 
purposes.  Where articles are removed for any of these purposes a receipt or 
notice will be given at the time of the inspection or as soon as is practicably 
possible afterwards.

Officers do not have the power of arrest; however joint working is undertaken 

68



9

with the Police and other agencies. Instances may arise where the Police or 
other agencies consider that an arrest should be made in connection with an 
authorised officer’s investigation.

Officers will carry out formal interviews in line with this policy and the Police 
and Criminal Evidence Act 1984.

In respect of legislation in England that contains criminal offences, there are 
strict time limits beyond which the law prevents proceedings being instituted. 
These time limits vary and are stated in the relevant legislation.

In relevant cases where it is proposed that either criminal or civil proceedings 
are to be brought by the Council a report will be prepared containing all 
relevant evidence that has been gathered during an investigation. This report 
will be reviewed by a manager and case conference called to consider the 
matter, in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation.  The 
evidence will usually also be reviewed by a solicitor before any proceedings 
are instigated.

5.2 Progress of Investigations
Officers carrying out investigations will keep alleged offenders and witnesses 
informed about the progress of any investigation as far as their involvement in 
the process is concerned.

6. Decisions on Enforcement Action

6.1 The Range of Actions Available as Set Out in Legislation
There are a range of actions that are available to the Council as set out in the 
different legislation the Council enforces. Examples of the main types of 
actions that may be considered are set out below:

a) Compliance Advice, Guidance and Support
The Council uses compliance advice, guidance and support as a first 
response in the case of many breaches of legislation that are identified. 
Advice is provided, sometimes in the form of a warning letter to assist 
individuals and businesses in rectifying breaches as quickly and efficiently as 
possible, avoiding the need for further enforcement action. A warning letter 
(sometimes called an ‘informal caution’) will set out what should be done to 
rectify the breach and to prevent re-occurrence. If a similar breach is identified 
in the future, this letter will be persuasive in considering the most appropriate 
enforcement action to take on that occasion. Such a letter cannot be cited in 
court as a previous conviction but it may be presented in evidence.

Where more formal enforcement action, such as a simple caution or 
prosecution, is taken, the Council recognises that there is likely to be an 
ongoing need for compliance advice and support, to prevent further breaches.

b) Voluntary Undertakings
The Council may accept voluntary undertakings that breaches will be rectified 
and/or recurrences prevented. The Council will take any failure to honour 

69



10

voluntary undertakings very seriously and enforcement action is likely to 
result.

c) Statutory (Legal) Notices
The Council has powers to issue statutory notices in respect of many 
breaches.  These include: ‘Stop Notices’, ‘Prohibition Notices/Orders’, 
‘Emergency Prohibition Notices/Orders’, and ‘Improvement Notices’. Such 
notices are legally binding. Failure to comply with a statutory notice can be a 
criminal offence and may lead to prosecution and/ or, where appropriate, the 
carrying out of work in default.

A statutory notice will clearly set out actions that must be taken and the 
timescale within which they must be taken. It is likely to require that any 
breach be rectified and/or prevented from recurring. It may also prohibit 
specified activities until such time as prescribed works/safeguards have been 
carried out to the satisfaction of the authority. Where a statutory notice is 
issued, an explanation of the appeals process will be provided to the recipient.

Some notices issued in respect of premises may be affixed to the premises 
and/or registered as local land charges.

d) Financial Penalties
The Council has powers to issue fixed penalty notices or penalty charge 
notices in respect of some breaches. A fixed penalty notice or penalty charge 
notice is not a criminal fine, and does not appear on an individual’s criminal 
record. If a fixed penalty/penalty charge notice is not paid, the Council may 
commence criminal proceedings in respect of the breach or take civil 
enforcement action to recover the penalty charge subject to the provisions of 
the relevant legislation.

If a fixed penalty/ penalty charge notice is paid in respect of a breach the 
Council will not take any further enforcement action in respect of that breach. 
Payment of a fixed penalty does not provide immunity from prosecution in 
respect of similar or recurrent breaches.

The Council is only able to issue fixed penalty notices where it has specific 
powers to do so. If fixed penalty notices are available, their issue is at the 
Council’s discretion.

In some circumstances, in particular where breaches are serious or recurrent, 
it may be that prosecution is more appropriate than the issue of a fixed 
penalty notice.

e) Injunctive Actions, Enforcement Orders etc.
In some circumstances the Council may seek a direction from the court (in the 
form of an order or an injunction) that a breach is rectified and/or prevented 
from recurring.  The court may also direct that specified activities be 
suspended until the breach has been rectified and/or safeguards have been 
put in place to prevent future breaches.

70



11

Failure to comply with a court order constitutes Contempt of Court, a serious 
offence that may lead to imprisonment.

The Council is required to seek enforcement orders after issuing some 
enforcement notices, providing the court with an opportunity to confirm the 
restrictions imposed by the notice. Otherwise, the Council will usually only 
seek a court order if it has serious concerns about compliance with voluntary 
undertakings or a notice.

f) Simple Caution
The Council has the power to issue Simple Cautions (previously known as 
‘Formal Cautions’) as an alternative to prosecution for some less serious 
offences, where a person admits an offence and consents to the Simple 
Caution. Where a Simple Caution is offered and declined, the Council is likely 
to consider prosecution.

A Simple Caution will appear on the offender’s criminal record.  It is likely to 
influence how the Council and others deal with any similar breaches in the 
future, and may be cited in court if the offender is subsequently prosecuted for 
a similar offence. If a Simple Caution is issued to an individual (rather than a 
corporation) it may have consequences if that individual seeks certain types of 
employment.

Simple cautions will be used in accordance with Ministry of Justice document 
‘Simple Cautions for Adult Offenders’.

g) Prosecution
The Council may prosecute in respect of serious or recurrent breaches, or 
where other enforcement actions, such as voluntary undertakings or statutory 
notices have failed to secure compliance. When deciding whether to 
prosecute the Council has regard to the provisions of The Code for Crown 
Prosecutors as issued by the Director of Public Prosecutions.

Prosecution will only be considered where the Council is satisfied that it has 
sufficient evidence to provide a realistic prospect of conviction against the 
defendant(s).

If the evidential test is satisfied a prosecution will usually take place unless 
there are public interest factors tending against prosecution that outweigh 
those tending in favour. The more serious the offence or the offender’s record 
of breaches/ criminal behaviour, the more likely it is that prosecution will be 
required in the public interest.

Assessing the public interest is not merely a matter of adding up the number 
of factors on each side and seeing which has the greater number. The public 
interest must be decided on the merits of each individual case and making an 
overall assessment. It is quite possible that one factor alone may outweigh a 
number of other factors that tend in the opposite direction.

A successful prosecution will result in a criminal record. The court may 

71



12

impose a fine and in respect of particularly serious breaches a prison 
sentence. The court may order the forfeiture and disposal of non-compliant 
goods and/or the confiscation of any profits that have resulted from the 
breach. Prosecution may also lead, in some circumstances, to the 
disqualification of individuals from acting as company directors.

h) Refusal/Suspension/Revocation of Licences
The Council issues a number of different licences, consents, registrations and 
permits. They are applied for by submission of an application, the form and 
content of which is sometimes specified in law. Applications are generally 
granted for a limited defined period and will be required to be renewed 
annually unless otherwise specified.

The Council may be permitted to ask supplementary questions on an 
application form in order to assist it in reaching a decision on whether the 
applicant is a fit and proper person to hold such a licence.

In some cases applications are subject to either a public or interested party 
consultation process and any application that attracts adverse comment or 
objection or does not meet Council policy requirements will be referred to an 
internal civil hearing forum to determine the application.

Most licences and other permissions have conditions attached, which can be 
standard conditions or specific conditions or a combination of both. These 
conditions form part of the licence and lay down requirements that a business 
or individual must have regard to when trading. Breach of a condition may be 
a civil or criminal matter.

When considering applications information supplied with the application 
together with any previous enforcement action and compliance record can be 
taken into account when reaching a decision.

6.2 Explanation of how decisions are made on enforcement action
In assessing what enforcement action is necessary and proportionate 
consideration will be given to, the following principles for enforcement set out 
in the ‘Macrory Review’:
 Aim to change the behaviour of the offender;
 Aim to eliminate any financial gain or benefit from non-compliance;
 Be responsive and consider what is appropriate for the particular offender 

and regulatory issue, which can include punishment and the public stigma 
that should be associated with a criminal conviction;

 Be proportionate to the nature of the offence and the harm caused;
 Aim to restore the harm caused by regulatory non-compliance, where 

appropriate; and,
 Aim to deter future non-compliance.

Where appropriate decisions about what enforcement action is to be taken 
may involve consultation between:
 Investigating Officer(s)
 Senior Managers

72



13

 Solicitors appointed to act for the Council
 Portfolio Holder

The decision to prosecute a case will be taken by those with authority to do so 
in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegations.

6.3 Explanation of how Decisions are Communicated to those Affected.
The Council will provide a timely explanation in writing of any rights to 
representation or appeal and information on the process involved.

7. Review of this Policy

7.1 Details of when and how the policy will be reviewed
This policy will be reviewed periodically or in line with changes in relevant 
legislation, or Regulators’ Code.

8. Comments and Complaints

8.1 Details of processes for complaints and appeals
All appeals in relation to enforcement action taken should be via the statutory 
appeals process outlined in the relevant legislation.

Complaints about the conduct of officers should be made via the Council’s 
corporate complaints procedure.

73



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cllr Gordon Bambridge - Executive Member for Growth

To: Cabinet – 1st May 2018

Author: Jemma March - Planning Policy Team Leader

Subject: Breckland Local Development Scheme

Purpose: The purpose of this report is to update the Local Development Scheme

Recommendation(s): It is recommended that Members approve Option 1 (as set out at para 
2.1) and that the Local Development Scheme, which has effect from 1st May 2018, is 
published.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Local Authorities are required to prepare a Local Development Scheme (LDS) through 
section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended by the 
Localism Act 2011). A Local Development Scheme is the Council’s public-facing timetable 
against which Local Development Documents (in this case the Local Plan) are prepared. 
The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act sets out the requirements for the LDS that 
they must specify:

 The documents which are to be local development documents
 The subject matter and geographical area to which each document relates
 The timetable for the preparation and revision of the documents

1.2 The proposed LDS can be seen at appendix A of this document. This is the Council’s 
eighth revision to the LDS since they were introduced in 2004, noting that the first iterations 
covered the previous Local Development Framework. Local Authorities are also required to 
monitor the progress of preparation of the Local Plan. 

1.3 In the current (seventh revision) of the LDS, the production timeline for the Local Plan is no 
longer in date as the programme shows that the Local Plan was submitted to the Secretary 
of State in October 2017 which is a month behind actual submission (30/11/17). Further, 
the proposed adoption date is not achievable as the hearing sessions were tabled to start 
later than was programmed in the LDS. 

1.4 The Inspector Jonathan Manning BSc (Hons) MA MRTPI conducting the independent 
Examination of the Local Plan has requested that the Council supply a revised LDS which 
documents the actual date of submission and an updated timeframe for subsequent stages 
and adoption. Therefore, the latest LDS has been revised to reflect the current position of 
the Local Plan, and ensure that the Local Plan is legally compliant for the purpose of the 
Local Plan Examination. 

Proposed Local Plan Timetable

1.5 Significant progress has already been made on the preparation of the Local Plan, including 
three rounds of public consultation (made under Regulation 18), the third of which closed in 
October 2016. The milestones for the Local Plan as set out within the LDS, are as follows:

74

Agenda Item 11



 Submission to the Planning Inspectorate: November 2017
 Examination in Public: April, May June and July 2018*
 Post hearing consultation: August-September 2018*
 Inspectors Report: November 2018*
 Adoption: December 2018*

*Note –dates will be dependant on the progress of the Examination and the ability of the Planning 
Inspectorate to complete the report. 

1.6 Following the submission of the document to the Planning Inspectorate, the timetable for 
the examination post submission is determined by them. Performance on the delivery of 
local development documents against the LDS will be kept under review through the 
Council’s Annual Monitoring Report. 

Reasons for Changes to the timeline

1.7 The timeline for the remaining stages of the production of the Local Plan represents an 
estimation based on available information at the time and consideration of the standardised 
timetable produced by the Planning Advisory Service. This is always a difficult timeline to 
predict as once the plan has been submitted the commencement of hearing sessions is 
dependant on the availability of the externally appointed Inspector. The date of submission 
slipped by one month due to additional time required to summarise, provide responses for 
and fully consider the representations made at Pre-Submission Publication Stage to 
determine whether there were any issues which would affect the soundness of the plan at 
examination. It was concluded that there was no significant issues that necessitated delay 
of the submission of the plan and therefore it was submitted to the Secretary of State on 
30th November 2017.

1.8 The availability of the Inspector appointed by PINS to conduct the hearing sessions was 
determined following submission of the plan in November 2017. The hearing sessions were 
programmed to be undertaken in April and May 2018; however, the timetable was revised 
again to ensure that the correct list of contacts had received an invitation to participate in 
the hearing sessions. The programme for the hearing sessions now starts 17th April 2018 
and is due to conclude on 8th June 2018 albeit the Inspector has indicated the potential for 
some additional sessions to be added beyond this.

1.9 Therefore, the updated timetable set out in this report represents the most reasonable 
estimate of the remaining stages of examination and adoption of the plan, subject to no 
additional delay as a result of issues raised during the examination hearing sessions. 

Summary of changes

1.10 The key changes to the LDS in the eighth revision are as follows:

 Revision to Figure 1 – Schedule of Proposed Documents to reflect accurate 
submission date and a realistic timeline of the remaining stages of the Local Plan 
examination.

 Update to the supporting text to reflect the revised timetable. 
 Revision to the Section 5 – Risks to reflect the progress of the Local Plan and that 

some of the previously identified risks are no longer applicable. Previously there 
were identified risks relating to the evidence base, changes to National Policy and 
Habitats Regulation Assessment which are not considered to be key risks post 
submission. The key risk identified at this stage is further work arising from the 
examination hearing sessions and the potential need for one or more additional 

75



hearing sessions not currently programmed. The timeline could potentially be 
subject to change dependant on whether further work is required and whether this 
can be produced in the current timeframe for the examination or whether the 
Inspector requires more time to consider additional work produced and this triggers 
the need for any new, currently unscheduled hearing sessions.

The LDS also retains information carried forward from the previous iteration in relation to 
the Council’s commitment to produce a Design SPD. It is still anticipated that preparatory 
work on the SPD will begin after the Examination of the Local Plan.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 There are three options available to Members:

 Option 1: Members resolve to approve the eighth revision of the LDS (as appendix 
A) and give it effect from 1st May 2018

 Option 2: Members do not resolve to agree the revised LDS.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 Members are recommended to resolve to approve option 1. Endorsing option 1 will satisfy 
the Inspector conducting the Local Plan examination that the Local Plan meets the legal 
requirements under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) S.19 (1) which 
states that Local Development Documents must be prepared in accordance with the Local 
Development Scheme. 

3.2 Should Members resolve to approve Option 2, there is a risk that the Inspector will 
determine the Breckland Local Plan does not meet the legal requirements of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) and this may raise soundness issues.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The expected benefit of ratifying the recommended approach is that it will satisfy the 
Inspectors direct request for a revised LDS to aid the examination of the Breckland Local 
Plan. It also sets out a clear and accurate timetable for the remaining stages of the 
examination and adoption of the Local Plan and meets the requirements of Section 15(2) 
and 19(1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004).

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

3.3 To ensure that the Local Plan meets the legal requirements under the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) S.19 (1) the plan must be prepared in accordance with 
the Local Development Scheme. 

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

76



5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 The LDS sets the time line for the production of the Local Plan. The Local Plan aligns with 
the following corporate priorities: Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive; providing the 
right services at the right time and in the right way; developing the local economy to be 
vibrant with continued growth and enabling stronger, more independent communities. The 
production also aligns with the priority of enabling effective planning and delivery of housing 
solutions to meet local needs.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.9 Risk Management 

5.9.1 The LDS identifies a number of risks to the delivery of the Local Plan, which are set out 
within appendix A. This includes changes to national planning policy and staff resources.

5.10 Safeguarding

5.10.1  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.11 Staffing

5.11.1  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 The LDS sets out the timeline for the remaining stages of examination and adoption of the 
Local Plan. The timetable does set an anticipated timescale for consultation on main modifications 
to the Local Plan.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 The LDS sets out the timescale for the preparation and adoption of the Local Plan. All 
wards in Breckland are affected by the Local Plan.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 LDS: Local Development Scheme

77



Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Jemma March, Planning Policy Team Leader
Telephone Number: 01362 656239
Email: jemma.march@capita.co.uk

Key Decision: Yes

Exempt Decision: Yes

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A : Breckland Local Plan Local Development Scheme

78

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Breckland Local Plan
Local Development Scheme

Eighth Revision (May 2018)

79



1. Introduction

Background

1.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) (as amended by the Localism Act 
2011) requires local authorities to produce a Local Development Scheme setting out the 
range of planning policy documents to guide future development and changes. The suite of 
documents was previously referred to as the Local Development Framework (LDF), although 
the term has now been replaced by the more straightforward “Local Plan” by the 
Government in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and national Planning 
Practice Guidance (PPG), Councils still need to produce a Local Development Scheme 
(LDS) to reflect the latest position on the intended programme and timetable for producing 
the Local Plan and other relevant Local Development Documents.

Local Development Documents

1.2 Prior to the Localism Act (2011), Councils were encouraged to produce a range of plans 
covering strategic and more detailed planning policies, including site allocations. The 
Government have signalled through the NPPF and national PPG the preference for a single 
Local Plan to be produced by each local planning authority for their area. Section 3 provides 
further detail on the current suite of plans produced under the LDF system by the Council.

1.3 In Breckland, the Council is now working on a single Local Plan to replace the suite of 
plans produced as part of the Local Development Framework process. Councils can also 
produce Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) for topics/areas which require 
additional guidance to policies set out in the Local Plan. However, the NPPF states that 
“supplementary planning documents should be used where they can help applicants make 
successful applications or aid infrastructure delivery, and should not be used to add 
unnecessarily to the financial burdens of development.”  The Council also prepares two 
additional documents: a Statement of Community Involvement detailing how people will be 
involved in the planning system; and a Monitoring Report that considers how effectively the 
Local Plan policies are being implemented.

1.4 The Localism Act (2011) provides the opportunity for communities to prepare 
Neighbourhood Plans to guide further development that they may wish to see in their 
communities. Neighbourhood Plans, once adopted, form part of the Development Plan for 
the area and are used in the determination of Planning Applications. Neighbourhood Plans1 
are prepared by Town and Parish Councils to address key local priorities. Their key 
milestones are specific to each document. The regulations do not require neighbourhood 
plans to be included within the LDS.

What is a Local Development Scheme (LDS)?

1.5 The Local Development Scheme (LDS) is a programme for the production of the Local 
Plan and any associated documents that Breckland Council intend to produce over the next 
three years.  This is the Council’s eighth revision to its LDS and updates the previously 
adopted LDS (July 2017). This LDS takes into account the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) (March 2012); The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012; and the Planning Practice Guidance and 

1 The latest position on neighbourhood plans within Breckland can be found here: 
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/2213/Neighbourhood-Plans 

80

http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/2213/Neighbourhood-Plans


attendant policy and ministerial statements that are relevant to the production of the Local 
Plan.

Key Issues in the Eighth Revision of the LDS

1.6 The seventh revision of the LDS was completed in July 2017 and therefore presented an 
accurate representation of the stages of production of the Local Plan. However, the 
inspector Jonathan Manning BSc (Hons) MA MRTPI conducting the independent 
Examination of the Local Plan has requested that the Council supply a revised LDS which 
accurately reflects the timeline of the Local Plan. The latest LDS has been revised to reflect 
this.  

Making Your Views Known

1.9 The Council is required by the regulations to make the LDS available to the public. 
Copies are available for inspection at the Council’s offices in Dereham and Thetford, as well 
as Customer Contact Centres in Dereham, Thetford, Attleborough, Swaffham and Watton. 
The LDS is also available to view on the Planning Policy pages of the Council’s website 
[www.breckland.gov.uk].

2. Local Plan Structure and Schedule of Proposed Documents

Local Plan Structure

2.1 Under the planning system Breckland Council will be responsible for delivering the new 
district-wide Local Plan. Norfolk County Council will retain the duty of preparing a Minerals 
and Waste Local Plan, as well as being the highway and education authority.

2.2 The production of the Local Plan will follow the full statutory processes including the 
preparation of a Sustainability Appraisal, public participation and other regulatory 
requirements. The Local Plan will be subject to Examination by an independent Inspector if 
formal objections are received during the public consultation period. Objectors, who wish to, 
can have their objections heard orally at any hearing stages held during the Examination.

2.3 The Council must keep this LDS under review in the light of any further changes. Once 
adopted, the LDS will be monitored on an annual basis. As part of the Monitoring Report the 
Council will set out:

 How well the Council is performing against the key milestones set out in the LDS;
 How the policies in the Local Plan are being implemented;
 The latest up-to-date list of background documents;
 The status of the old planning policy framework and how this has been affected by 

the production of the Local Plan;
 Whether the Local Plan or aspects of the plan need reviewing in advance of their 

scheduled time target;
 Any updates to the LDS as required.

Schedule of Proposed Documents

2.7 The documents that Breckland Council proposes to prepare are as follows:

 Local Plan (district wide)
 Policies Map
 Monitoring Report

81



Progress on the preparation of the Local Plan

2.8 The Council has made significant progress on the Local Plan to date, since the decision 
was taken in 2013 to commence the preparation of a single Local Plan. The following key 
milestones having already occurred:

 Issues and Options Consultation (regulation18) – November 2014 to January 2015
 Preferred Directions Consultation (regulation 18) – January to February 2016
 Pre-Submission Publication (Regulation 19) – August 2017 to September 2017
 Submission (Regulation 22) – November 2017

2.9 Figure 1 sets out the timetable for the preparation of the Local Plan. . 

82



Figure 1 – Schedule of Proposed Documents

2017 2018  
 
 Comments

 
Local Development 
Document Au

gu
st

Se
pt

em
be

r

O
ct

ob
er

N
ov

em
be

r

De
ce

m
be

r

Ja
nu

ar
y

Fe
br

ua
ry

M
ar

ch

Ap
ril

M
ay

Ju
ne

Ju
ly

Au
gu

st

Se
pt

em
be

r

O
ct

ob
er

N
ov

em
be

r

De
ce

m
be

r

LDF (Core Strategy 
and Development 
Control Policies, Dec 
09; Site Specifics, 
Jan 2012; Thetford 
Area Action Plan, 
July 2012)

 
 
     

All documents will be 
replaced by the Local 
Plan once adopted 
(n.b non-superceded 
policies will remain 
extant)

       

Local Plan  P P  S M M R  

It is expected that 
once this document is 
adopted it will be 
reviewed on a 3-5 year 
cycle

       

Policies Maps      

To be updated on 
adoption of the Local 
Plan

Key Milestones
 Preparation of the document

 *
Public participation in the preparation of the Local 
Plan (Regulation 18)

P Publication of the Local Plan (Regulation 19)
S Submission of the Local Plan (Regulation 22)
M Post Hearing Consultation (Modifications)
E Examination in Public
R Inspectors Report
A Adoption
U Update Policies Maps

Summary of revised changes to the Local Development Scheme

 In accordance with section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase act (as amended), this LDS has updated the 
previous timeline (March 2013) as milestones were out of date.

 The updated LDS has also removed the Community Infrastructure Levy, as the Council has halted production at the 
present time.

83



       

Other Planning Policy Documents that Breckland Council will publish

2.10 The Local Plan will establish the Council’s planning policies, which should be backed 
up by robust evidence base. This work will be published in the form of technical studies and 
papers and they will be produced either by the Council or independent consultancy bodies.

2.11 Each background document will be publicly available at the same time as the relevant 
stage of the Local Plan to which it relates, is submitted. It is not possible at this time to 
predict every background document that will be produced as the Council may need to 
prepare additional evidence in the course of preparing the Local Plan or to respond to 
changes in National Planning Policy. Consideration will be given on an annual basis as to 
the need for their review.

2.12 The Council has previously undertaken work on a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
for the District. Work was halted in July 2014 and a watching brief kept on amendments to 
the CIL process.

Design Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

2.13 The Council is committed to producing a SPD on design. The document will guide the 
design of development in Breckland and aid the implementation of allocated sites in the 
Local Plan. The timetable for the production of the SPD is contingent on the progress of the 
remaining stages of the Local Plan, but it is anticipated that preparatory work on the SPD will 
begin after the Examination of the Local Plan. 

3. Transitional Arrangements

3.1 The current documents that make up the Local Plan provide the planning policy 
framework for Breckland at the local level. In due course they will be replaced by the 
emerging single Local Plan. The new Local Plan will also include a list of all policies that are 
superseded and those that are not superseded, Until that time, the existing statutory 
planning policy framework includes:

• National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 Norfolk Minerals and Waste Development Management Polices (2011)
 Norfolk Minerals Site Specific Allocations DPD (2013)
 Norfolk Waste Site Specific Allocations DPD (2013)
• Core Strategy and Development Control Policies DPD (2009)
• Site Specific Policies and Proposals DPD (2012)
• Thetford Area Action Plan (2012)
• Saved Policies of the Breckland District Local Plan 1999

3.3 The Council’s suite of documents within the Local Plan remains adopted until they are 
replaced by the emerging single Local Plan. There are four policies from the previous plan 
(1999) that remain saved by virtue of their inclusion within the adopted Core Strategy DPD, 
Site Specific Policies and Proposals DPD and the Thetford Area Action Plan DPD. The 
Thetford Area Action Plan was adopted post adoption of the NPPF and as such, is fully in 
conformity with this document and benefits from full weight in the planning process. The 
Core Strategy and Site Specific Policies and Proposals DPDs were adopted prior to the 
publication of the NPPF and as such policies within them are afforded due weight depending 
on their level of conformity (NPPF Annex 1: Implementations). 

84



4. Resources

4.1 The preparation of the Local Plan will be overseen by a working group of the Council’s 
Cabinet. This will report to Cabinet and then to the full Council as appropriate. The working 
group, which meets in public, will consider drafts of documents and make recommendations. 
Revised drafts of any document will be agreed for consultation through the Council’s Cabinet 
and through meetings of The Council.

4.2 On 30th June 2009 Breckland Council transferred its planning service to Capita as a 15 
year contract which will cover both the development management and planning policy 
functions of the Council. Capita is contracted to deliver the Planning Policy services to 
Breckland Council in accordance with milestones agreed with the Council on an annual 
basis, as part of an on-going Contract Review process. Since Breckland’s Planning Policy 
team was transferred to Capita, the Local Planning Authority function now rests with the 
Council’s own Planning Management team. The Strategic Planning Manager also fulfills the 
role of client liaison officer.

4.3 The day-to-day preparation of the Local Plan will be the responsibility of Planning Policy 
Team under Capita Breckland. The team is part of a wider planning office at Breckland and 
within Capita. Breckland Council retains budgetary responsibility for financing the work 
needed to prepare a sound Local Plan.

5. Risks

5.1 Producing a Local Plan document within a set timetable is not without risk. A number of 
risks to delivery against the milestones have been identified and are set out below. As far as 
is practicable these risks have been taken into account in producing the timetable.

1. Staff Resources

5.2 In common with many rural planning authorities, the planning policy team at Breckland is 
relatively small. Staff turnover, the national lack of qualified planners and increasing need for 
staff to specialise all pose medium risks to the timetable if one or more members of the team 
were to leave the team during the next three years. The loss of staff with significant local 
knowledge may take time to replace. Therefore, staff retention and replacement are priorities 
for the service and this aspect will be managed to ensure that the timetable for the Local 
Plan is not put at risk. As the Council’s planning service is delivered by Capita, there is 
potential scope to use resources elsewhere within the company to minimise this element of 
risk should it arise.

2. Delay or suspension of the examination dependant on the outcome of hearing 
sessions

5.3 Whilst the Council has submitted a plan which is considers to be sound, it is not 
uncommon for discussion at hearing sessions to trigger requests from the Inspector for 
additional work to be undertaken to support the consideration of issues raised. In most cases 
this can be produced within the programmed timetable which would not affect the timeline 
projected in the LDS. However, this is dependant on the scale and nature of the work 
requested and also the time required to produce it. The Inspector may suggest additional 
time to consider the work produced, if requested, and this may result in the identification of a 
further hearing session/s to ensure the issue is explored in a public forum. A number of 
reserve sessions are programmed, however any additional sessions would be subject to the 
availability of the Inspector, participants and available suitable locations to hold the sessions.

85



Document is Restricted

86

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

96

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

99

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

100

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

107

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

108

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

110

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes

	8 Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership
	Minutes

	9 Air Quality Action Plan
	Appendix 1 for Air Quality Action Plan
	10 Swaffham Air Quality Report

	Appendix 2 for Air Quality Action Plan
	Appendix 3 for Air Quality Action Plan

	10 Corporate Enforcement Policy
	Breckland Enforcement Policy- OSC April 18, 19/04/2018 Overview and Scrutiny Commission

	11 Revision of Breckland Local Development Scheme (LDS)
	Appendix A LDS Eighth Revision

	15 Snetterton Electricity Power Upgrade Project - Project Update and Acceptance of Grant
	16 PFI Leisure contract Sub-Contractor
	PFI Leisure contract Sub-contractor Proforma B

	17 Barnham Broom Golf & Country Club Investment Asset
	Appendix 1 Barnham Broom Golf & Country Club Investment Asset
	Proforma B Barnham Broom Golf & Country Club Investment Asset
	Appendix 2 for Barnham Broom Golf & Country Club Investment Asset


